Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.



## 深圳市明華澳漢科技股份有限公司 Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited \*

(a joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 8301)

# ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND CONTINUED SUSPENSION OF TRADING

The board (the "Board") of directors (the "Directors") of Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited\* (深圳市明華澳漢科技股份有限公司) (the "Company", together with its subsidiaries, the "Group") is pleased to announce the audited annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020. This announcement, containing the full text of the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the "2020 Annual Report"), complies with the relevant content requirements of Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in relation to preliminary announcements of the annual results. The 2020 Annual Report will be dispatched to the shareholders of the Company, and available for viewing on the "Latest Listed Company Information" page on the GEM website at www.hkgem.com and on the "Investor" page of the Company's website at www.mwcard.com in due course.

#### CONTINUED SUSPENSION OF TRADING

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 2, 3, 12 and 17 November 2020, 11 February and 11 March 2021 (the "Announcements") in relation to, among other things, the suspension of trading in the shares of the Company. Unless otherwise stated, capitalised terms used herein shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Announcements.

<sup>\*</sup> For identification purposes only

Trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 12 November 2020 and will remain suspended until the Company fulfills the Resumption Guidance.

# By Order of the Board Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited Zhang Tao

Chairman

Shenzhen, the PRC, 24 March 2021

As at the date of this announcement, the executive Directors are Mr. Zhang Tao, Mr. Lang Yu and Mr. Liu Jianfeng; the non-executive Director is Mr. Zhou Liang Hao; and the independent non-executive Directors are Mr. Yu Xiuyang, Mr. Wei Wei and Mr. Chan Chun Kit.

This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this announcement is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the website of the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited at www.hkgem.com on the "Latest Listed Company Information" page for at least 7 days from the date of its posting.

# CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE "STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the "Directors") of Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited (the "Company", together with its subsidiaries, the "Group") collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules") for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

# **Contents**

Corporate information	
Chairman's Statement	3
Management Discussion and Analysis	5
Corporate Governance Report	13
Directors and Supervisors	29
Report of Supervisory Committee	32
Directors' Report	33
Independent Auditor's Report	41
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	44
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	45
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	46
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	47
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	48
Financial Summary	110

## **Corporate Information**

# **BOARD OF DIRECTORS (THE "BOARD") Executive Directors**

Mr. Zhang Tao (Chairman)

Mr. Lang Yu Mr. Liu Jianfeng

#### **Non-Executive Director**

Mr. Zhou Liang Hao

#### **Independent Non-Executive Directors**

Mr. Yu Xiuyang

Mr. Lau Shu Yan (resigned on 9 April 2020)

Mr. Wei Wei

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (appointed on 6 August 2020)

#### **Supervisors**

Mr. Zhou Jie

Mr. You Xiaohua

Ms. Huang Sanhuan

#### **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

Mr. Chan Chun Kit *(Chairman)* (appointed on 6 August 2020)
Mr. Lau Shu Yan (resigned and ceased to be chairman and a member on 9 April 2020)

Mr. Yu Xiuyang

Mr. Wei Wei (appointed as chairman on 9 April 2020 and re-designated to member on 6 August 2020)

#### **NOMINATION COMMITTEE**

Mr. Zhang Tao *(Chairman)* (appointed as chairman on 9 April 2020)

Mr. Lau Shu Yan (resigned and ceased to be chairman and a member on 9 April 2020)

Mr. Yu Xiuyang

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (appointed on 6 August 2020)

#### REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yu Xiuyang (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Shu Yan (resigned on 9 April 2020)

Mr. Wei Wei

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (appointed on 6 August 2020)

#### **CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER**

Mr. Zhang Tao

#### **COMPANY SECRETARY**

Ms. Leung Hoi Yan

#### **COMPLIANCE OFFICER**

Mr. Zhang Tao

#### **AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES**

Ms. Leung Hoi Yan Mr. Zhang Tao

#### **AUDITOR**

KTC Partners CPA Limited

# REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Room 5D, JINRUN BUILDING (金潤大廈) SHEN NAN Avenue 6019, Futian District

Shenzhen, Guangdong Province

The People's Republic of China

Zip Code: 518000

# PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 913, 9/F., Woon Lee Commercial Building 7–9 Austin Avenue, Tsim Sha Tsui Kowloon, Hong Kong

# HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

#### **PRINCIPAL BANKERS**

China Minsheng Bank Ping An Bank

#### **COMPANY'S WEBSITE**

www.mwcard.com

#### **GEM STOCK CODE**

8301

### **Chairman's Statement**

For and on behalf of the Board, I hereby present the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to hereinafter as the "Group") for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the "Year").

#### **BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND REVIEW**

The year 2020 was a year full of challenges to the Group with the epidemic outbreak (the "COVID-19 Outbreak") associated with a novel coronavirus (the "COVID-19") in addition to the intensified market competition in the PRC. Since early 2020, the COVID-19 Outbreak has spread across China and other countries. The COVID-19 Outbreak had adversely affected the economy, infrastructure and livelihood of the people in the PRC and worldwide, which in turn had adversely impacted domestic and global consumption and the Group's business, financial position and results of operations throughout the financial year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB10,154,000 (2019: approximately RMB50,273,000); while the Group's loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately RMB6,952,000 as compared with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB37,427,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in revenue during the Year was mainly attributable the decrease in revenue in the Group's Wine Business Card and Related Products Business to approximately RMB10,067,000 (2019: approximately RMB40,009,000) and RMB87,000 (2019: approximately RMB10,264,000) respectively, as the result of the adverse impact of the COVID-19 Outbreak on domestic and global business environment and intensified market competition.

On the other hand, the decrease in the loss attributable to owners of the Group during the Year was mainly attributable to (a) the decrease in impairment losses on trade and other receivables under expected credit loss model ("ECL model") (net of reversal) to approximately RMB1,648,000 (2019: impairment losses on trade and other receivables under ECL model (net of reversal) of approximately RMB15,133,000, and impairment loss on intangible assets and interests in joint ventures in the total amount of approximately RMB13,887,000) and (b) the decrease in general and administrative expenses to approximately RMB5,877,000 (2019: approximately RMB12,606,000).

#### Chairman's Statement (continued)

#### **OUTLOOK**

The Group's business, financial position and results of operations during the Year was affected by the COVID-19 Outbreak.

In view of the resurgence of the confirmed COVID-19 cases in China, the Group's business operations continued to face challenges in such unfavourable market situation. With the uncertainties and challenges amid the COVID-19 Outbreak, the Group's operation in the card and application market is expected to face further challenges and fiercer competition, whilst the downturn in domestic and global wine industry would continue to impact the Group's Wine Business. As such, the Group will continue to review the operation and evaluate the performance of the Card and Related Products Business and the Wine Business regularly to ensure timely adjustments in its business strategies.

In order to ease the adverse impact brought about by the COVID-19 Outbreak, the Company has implemented stringent cost control and inventory management measures which led to a significant decrease in the Group's general and administrative cost. The Group will continue to implement and review its cost control and inventory management measures from time to time to ensure its effectiveness in avoiding unnecessary cost expenses.

The Group will pay close attention to the development of the COVID-19 Outbreak and evaluate the impact on its future financial position and operating results. In addition, the Group is currently liaising with its customers and debtors and expects to gradually recover the outstanding trade receivables to strengthen the Group's cash position, and will negotiate with certain bankers to obtain bank facilities as and when necessary. In order to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 Outbreak and other risks faced by the Group from time to time, the Board will continue to review and adjust its strategy to explore further business opportunities, and make necessary adjustments where necessary.

#### **APPRECIATION**

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express their thanks and gratitude to the Group's management and staff who dedicated their endless efforts and devoted services, and to its shareholders, investors and business partners for their continuous support.

#### **Zhang Tao**

Chairman Shenzhen, the PRC, 24 March 2021

\* For identification purpose only

## **Management Discussion and Analysis**

#### **BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS REVIEW**

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (the "Year" or the "year under review"), the Group has been principally engaged in the business of (i) the provision of application development services application systems in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") (the "Card and Related Products Business"); and (ii) trading of liquor products in the PRC (the "Wine Business").

#### The Card and Related Products Business

In the Year, the Group's Card and Related Products Business continued to face the adverse market environment and intensified competition. As a result and coupled with the impact due to the COVID-19 Outbreak, revenue of approximately RMB87,000 (2019: approximately RMB10,264,000) attributable to the Card and Related Products Business for the year ended 31 December 2020 were mainly derived from one (2019: ten) contract for its application system and application development services. During the Year, Card and Related Products Business recorded a segment loss of approximately RMB238,000 (2019: approximately RMB1,959,000).

#### The Wine Business

The Group commenced its Wine Business in the last quarter of 2016 with a view to diversify its income source and enhance its financial performance. For furtherance of its Wine Business, the Group (i) entered into strategic partnership with Googut Wine & Spirits Co, Ltd (歌德盈香股份有限公司) ("Googut", together with its subsidiaries the "Googut Group") in 2016; (ii) formed two joint venture companies respectively in the PRC and Hong Kong in 2017; and (iii) entered into a memorandum of understanding and the strategic cooperation agreement with Googut in 2017. The Googut Group is a professional and integrated operator of alcoholic beverage which has been well established distribution channel and broad customer base in the PRC.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has bought disruption of the wine distribution channel in China and worldwide due to the extensive closure and restrictions on hotels and restaurants across China and the world, causing decrease in demand in wine products and change in purchasing behaviour of end-customers. As a result, the Group's revenue attributable to the Wine Business decreased to approximately RMB10,067,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: approximately RMB40,009,000), whilst the segment profit of the Wine Business for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately RMB166,000 (2019: approximately RMB2,788,000).

In light of the above, the Board will continue to adjust its strategy and explore further business opportunities and review the performance of the distribution channels and make necessary adjustments as and when necessary.

#### **FINANCIAL REVIEW**

Due to the unfavorable business environment as caused by the COVID-19 Outbreak, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB10,154,000, representing a decrease of approximately 79.8% as compared with the revenue of approximately RMB50,273,000 in the previous year.

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately RMB307,000, with a decrease of approximately 93.9% as compared with the gross profit of approximately RMB5,050,000 for the previous year mainly due to significant decrease in revenue. The gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2020 decreased from 10.0% to 3.0% as compared with last year. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly attributable to decrease in percentage of the revenue generated from the Card and Related Products Business (from approximately 20.4% of the total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately 0.9% of that for the Year) which yields a relatively higher gross profit margin.

Other income, other gains and losses amounted to approximately RMB1,234,000 (2019: approximately RMB1,152,000) for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing a slight increase of approximately RMB82,000 compared with last year. The increase was primarily attributable to the recognition of gain on deregistration of subsidiaries in the amount of RMB1,930,000 for the Year (2019: Nil), where details of such de-registration of subsidiaries during the Year are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by approximately 72.6% from approximately RMB179,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB49,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in distribution and sales of products during the Year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's general and administrative expenses decreased by approximately 53.4% approximately RMB5,877,000 (2019: approximately RMB12,606,000). The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in staff costs and other expenses as the result of the Group's cost control measures during the Year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the finance cost deceased by approximately 18.6% to approximately RMB872,000 as compared to approximately RMB1,071,000 in the previous year, as a result of decrease in interest on other borrowings. These financial costs represented the interests on borrowing from independent third parties and interest on lease liabilities for the Year.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the income tax expense amounted to approximately RMB47,000 (2019: approximately RMB751,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately RMB6,952,000, decreased by approximately 81.4% from approximately RMB37,427,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in loss was mainly attributable to the effective cost control and inventory management measures which led to a significant decrease in the Group's general and administrative cost during the Year.

#### **PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES**

In order to accurately reflect the Company's financial and operational situation, the Company would conduct a review on every asset, and conduct impairment test on assets which show any indication of impairment at the end of each year. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company had recorded impairment losses on trade and other receivables (the "Receivables") under ECL model, net of reversal of approximately RMB1,648,000 (2019: approximately RMB15,133,000), whilst the Group did not make any further provision for impairment loss on intangible assets (2019: approximately RMB8,915,000) and the impairment loss on interests in joint ventures (2019: approximately RMB4,972,000).

#### Reversal of Impairment losses on trade and other receivables under ECL model

As required by HKFRS 9, the Company performed impairment assessment under ECL model on financial assets at amortised cost and engaged an independent valuer to perform a valuation (the "Valuation") in relation to the ECL of the trade and other receivables as of 31 December 2019 and 2020, respectively. The value of the inputs used includes the value of the trade and other receivables as grouped in different aging classifications and the ECL rate for different aging classifications as disclosed in note 34(b) to the consolidated financial statement.

In view of (i) the outstanding trade receivables and other receivables which had been past due for over 180 days and 1 year, respectively; and (ii) the increased credit risk due to the COVID-19 Outbreak causing certain customers unable to resume operations and impacting the PRC economic conditions, the Group recognised impairment losses under ECL model on trade receivables of approximately RMB1.5 million and on other receivables of approximately RMB13.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Since then, the Group has been focusing its efforts to recover the outstanding Receivables from its customers and debtors. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recovered outstanding Receivables of approximately RMB212,000 resulting in reversal of impairment loss of the same amount for the year ended 31 December 2020. That being said, having considered the aforementioned considerations, the Group recognised impairment losses under ECL model on trade receivables of approximately RMB1,855,000 for the Year. Accordingly, the Group recorded impairment losses under ECL model on trade and other receivables (net of reversal) in the amount of approximately RMB1,648,000 for the Year.

#### **Intangible Assets**

The intangible assets of the Company "明華smartcos芯片操作管理系統軟件" (the "IA") was recognised as intangible assets by the Company in the financial year 2016 with an estimated useful life of 7 years.

With the Company considered it be an impairment indication when revenue generated from the IA being RMBNil for the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company performed the impairment assessment under the discounted cash flow approach, which is allowed under HKAS36, to derive the value in use of the IA.

Due to (i) the lack of market platform for trading of the IA; (ii) the lack of sales contract regarding the IA obtained by the Company; and (iii) the Company's expectation of there would be no cash generated from the IA, the value in use or the fair value less cost of disposal of the IA was RMBNil. Since the recoverable amount of the IA as at 31 December 2019 was RMBNil, the Company recognised an impairment loss on intangible assets of approximately RMB8,915,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019 to write down the carrying amount of IA to RMBNil.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, given that the revenue generated and the recoverable amount from the IA remained RMBNil due to the aforementioned reasons, no further impairment loss on intangible assets was recognised.

#### **Joint Ventures**

As at 31 December 2020, the Company's interests in joint ventures included investments in Googut Mingwah (Hong Kong) Limited and Shanghai Googut Trading Co. Limited (the "Joint Ventures"), which were established in 2017.

Similar to the IA, the Company considered it to be an impairment indication when the Joint Venture was not able to obtain any customer orders during the year ended 31 December 2019. Having considered (i) the loss continued to be incurred by the Joint Ventures for the year ended 31 December 2019; (ii) the existing resources, staffs and sales channel of the Joint Ventures; and (iii) the COVID-19 Outbreak, the Company and the Joint Ventures partners anticipated that there would be no revenue generated for the Joint Ventures in 2020 and 2021. With the Company expected that there would be no projected revenue and cash inflow from the Joint Ventures, the recoverable amount of the Joint Ventures was considered to be RMBNil. In additional, as the Joint Ventures are private companies without any significant assets or profit, there was no market fair value to dispose the shares of the Joint Ventures. Therefore, the Company expected that the fair value less costs of disposal of the Joint Venture would also be insignificant or RMBNil.

According to HKAS 28, the entire carrying amount of the investments is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset, by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Based on the facts and circumstances mentioned above, the Company expected the recoverable amount of the Joint Ventures would be closed to RMBNil as at 31 December 2019 and recognised an impairment loss in the Joint Ventures of approximately RMB4,972,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Given the continued loss to incurred by the Joint Ventures for the two years ended 31 December 2020 and no projected revenue and cash inflow is expected to be generated from the Joint Ventures, the recoverable amount of the Joint Ventures remained to be RMBNil as at 31 December 2020 and no further impairment loss in joint ventures was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020.

For details of the impairment loss on intangible assets and the impairment loss in joint ventures, please also refer to the Company's annual report for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the supplemental announcement dated 20 August 2020.

#### LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

#### **Financial position**

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately RMB28,269,000 (2019: approximately RMB21,508,000), representing an increase of RMB6,761,000 compared with last year. The increase was mainly attributable to (1) the decrease in inventories, (2) the decrease in trade and other receivables, and (3) the addition of amount due to a related company and amount due to a director, which were partially off-set by the decrease in trade and other payables and other borrowings.

Current assets as at 31 December 2020 comprised inventories of RMBNil (2019: RMB9,418,000), trade and other receivables of approximately RMB5,671,000 (2019: approximately RMB53,826,000) and bank balances and cash of approximately RMB470,000 (2019: approximately RMB231,000).

Current liabilities as at 31 December 2020 comprised trade and other payables of approximately RMB12,107,000 (2019: approximately RMB61,808,000), income tax payable of approximately RMB2,195,000 (2019: approximately RMB2,178,000), lease liabilities of approximately RMB301,000 (2019: approximately RMB292,000), other borrowings of approximately RMB6,753,000 (2019: approximately RMB15,556,000); amount due to a related company of approximately RMB7,464,000 (2019: RMBNil); amount due to a director of approximately RMB399,000 (2019: RMBNil); and amounts due to shareholders of approximately RMB5,191,000 (2019: approximately RMB5,149,000).

#### **Gearing ratio**

The gearing ratio of the Group was not applicable as the Group had a net working capital deficiency as at 31 December 2020. (2019: not applicable due to net working capital deficiency). Please refer to Note 33 to the consolidated financial statement for details. Details of the basis of calculation are set out in Note 33 to the audited financial statements.

#### Capital commitments

Details of capital commitments were set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

#### Financial resources

At 31 December 2020, the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately RMB470,000 (2019: RMB231,000) which was mainly held in Renminbi and HK dollars. At 31 December 2020 and 2019, bank balances represented short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less. The interest rates ranged from 0.001% to 0.35% per annum (2019: 0.001% to 0.35% per annum).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging purpose, nor were there any foreign currency net investments hedged by current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.

#### Significant investments held

The Group did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any company during the year ended 31 December 2020.

#### **Capital structure**

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

#### Disposal and deregistration of subsidiaries

Details of the deregistration of subsidiaries are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

There was no disposal of subsidiaries during the Year (2019: none).

#### **SEGMENTAL INFORMATION**

Details of the segment information of the Group are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

#### **EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY**

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had eight (2019: 17) full time employees.

The decrease in workforce for the year ended 31 December 2020 was due to the Group having streamlined the organisation structure and focused on more profitable businesses.

The Group attaches great importance to our employees, because our employees are the most precious assets of the Group in developing its traditional business and open up to new business and also the foundation of future development of the Group. The Group will provide our employees with the training courses related to personal development and practical work as much as possible allowed by its own condition, which encourage them to further enrich themselves and work together to build team spirit and raise morale. The Group will reward employees according to the Group's results, as well as their business performance and the contribution to the Group through their personal performance.

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the "Remuneration Committee" or "RC") to make recommendations on the overall strategy of remuneration policies.

#### **CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS**

At 31 December 2020, there were no assets pledged as collateral for the Group's borrowings (2019: Nil).

#### **DETAILS OF FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSETS**

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any details of future plans for material investment or capital assets as at 31 December 2020

#### PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects may be affected by risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group's businesses. The risk factors set out below are those that could result in the Group's results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects differing materially from expected or historical results. Such factors are by no means exhaustive or comprehensive and there may be other risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

#### **Operation Risk**

Reliance on a limited number of large customers sales to the largest customer and top two customers accounted for 52.3% and 97.1% of the Group's turnover for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 28.5% and 49.3%). There is no assurance that the demand for the products of the Group from these customers can be maintained in the future. In the event that the demand from them decreases significantly and the Group is unable to find replacement customers on terms acceptable to the Group, results of operations of the Group may be adversely affected.

#### **Business Risk**

#### Rapid changes in technology

The Group operates in a market which is characterised by rapid changes in technology, industry standards, customer preferences and frequent introductions and enhancements of products and services. Accordingly, the performance of the Group will depend on its ability to improve the functions and reliability of its products and services and adapt to new industry standards and customer preferences. In the event that the Group fails to adapt successfully to such changes, the results of operations and growth prospects of the Group may be adversely affected.

#### **Financial Risk**

The Group is exposed to a variety of key financial risks including mainly credit risk, details of the key risks and risk mitigation measures are elaborated in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

#### **FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE**

Since most of the income and expenditure of the Group were received and paid in Renminbi, the local currency of the place where the Group principally operates in, the Directors do not consider that the Group was significantly exposed to any foreign currency exchange risk.

#### **LITIGATIONS**

As at 31 December 2020, there was no significant legal claims against the Group.

#### **CONTINGENT LIABILITIES**

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

#### SUSPENSION OF TRADING

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 2, 3, 12 and 17 November 2020. The trading in the Shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange has been suspended with effect from 12 November 2020.

## **Corporate Governance Report**

#### **CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES**

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance practices has always been one of the Group's goals. The Company believes that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders' value.

The Board has adopted the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. Continuous efforts are made to review and enhance the Group's internal controls and procedures in light of changes in regulations and developments of best practices. Maintaining high standards of corporate governance practices is not only complying with the provisions but also enhancing corporate performance and accountability.

During the Year, the Company complied with the code provisions in the CG Code with the exception of the following code provisions:

In respect of the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. After the appointment of Mr. Zhang Tao as the chief executive officer of the Company (the "CEO") on 8 February 2018, he has served as both the chairman of the Board (the "Chairman") and the CEO. By taking into account the current circumstances of the Group as a whole, the Board considers Mr. Zhang Tao, being a key leadership of the Group, as a suitable candidate to be the CEO, ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board will consider splitting the roles of Chairman and CEO at a time when it is appropriate. Therefore, the Board considers that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance. In addition, under the supervision of the Board which is comprised of three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report, the Board is appropriately structured with balance of power to provide sufficient checks to protect the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

In respect of the code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend general meetings. Due to the restrictions in force in China by relevant PRC authorities in the attempt to contain the COVID-19 Outbreak, (a) Mr. Zhou Liang Hao, Mr. Yu Xiuyang, Mr. Lau Shu Yan and Mr. Wei Wei did not attend the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3 February 2020; and (b) Mr. Chan Chun Kit did not attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2020.

In respect of the code provision C.1.3 of the CG Code, unless it is inappropriate to assume that the company will continue in business, the directors should prepare the accounts on a going concern basis. Details of the disclaimer of opinion on going concern, the Company's position and audit committee's view on the disclaimer of opinion and steps to address the disclaimer of opinion are disclosed in this corporate governance report on page 20 to 21.

#### **DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS**

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") pursuant to the requirements in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors who were holding office as a director during the Year, the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding directors' securities transactions during the Year.

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the relevant employees of the Group who are considered likely to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive information of the Group on no less exacting terms than the Model Code in relation to their dealings in the securities of the Company pursuant to the code provision A.6.4 of the CG Code. To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, all relevant employees have complied with the required standard of such code.

#### **BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

The Board comprises seven Directors, of whom three are executive Directors, one is non-executive Director (the "NED") and three are independent non-executive Directors (the "INED"). Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the Chairman and the other Directors are set out on the page 29 and 31 of this annual report. The participation of non-executive Director in the Board brings independent judgment on issues relating to the Group's strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the Company (the "Shareholder(s)") have been duly considered.

In compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, the Board fulfilled the minimum requirement of having at least three INEDs as required by the GEM Listing Rules and the number of INEDs is more than one-third of the members of the Board as noted above. The Company met the requirement of having INED with appropriate professional qualification or professional accounting or financial management expertise except for the following deviations:

Following the resignation of Mr. Lau Shu Yan as an INED effective from 9 April 2020, (a) the number of INED falls below the minimum number required under Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, (b) the number of members of the audit committee of the Company (the "AC") falls below the minimum number required under Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules; and (c) the Company ceased to fulfill the requirements under Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules that at least one of the INEDs must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Upon the appointment of Mr. Chan Chun Kit as an INED and the chairman of the AC effective from 6 August 2020, the Company fulfilled the requirements of minimum number of INED and audit committee member under Rule 5.05(1) and Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules respectively and the requirement of having at least one of the INEDs with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise under Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs who were holding office as Director during the Year, an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent of the Company.

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to reelection. The term of appointment pursuant to the service contract of Mr. Yu Xiuyang is for a term of three years commencing from November 2018. The term of appointment pursuant to appointment letter with Mr. Wei Wei is for a term of three years with effect from March 2019. The term of appointment pursuant to the service contract with Mr. Zhou Liang Hao is for a term of three years with effect from August 2019. The term of appointment pursuant to the service contract with Mr. Chan Chun Kit is for a term of three years with effect from August 2020. The non-executive Directors are subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the articles of association (the "Articles of Association") of the Company.

The Board held a board meeting at least at each quarter or in case there is important decision to make.

#### The Attendance of Directors and Committee Members

The Directors' attendances of the meetings of the Board, the AC, the remuneration committee of the Company (the "RC"), the nomination committee of the Company (the "NC") and general meetings of the Company during the Year are as follows:

	Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings The Audit Remuneration Nomination General				
Name of Directors	Board	Committee	Committee	Committee	Meetings
Executive Directors					
Mr. Zhang Tao (Chairman and CEO)	5/5	N/A	N/A	1/1	2/2
Mr. Lang Yu	5/5	N/A	N/A	N/A	2/2
Mr. Liu Jianfeng (Note 1)	3/5	N/A	N/A	N/A	1/2
Non-Executive Director					
Mr. Zhou Liang Hao (Note 2)	0/5	N/A	N/A	N/A	1/2
Independent Non-Executive Directors					
Mr. Yu Xiuyang	5/5	5/5	1/1	1/1	1/2
Mr. Lau Shu Yan (resigned on 9 April 2020)	1/1	1/1	N/A	N/A	0/1
Mr. Wei Wei (Note 3)	4/5	4/5	0/1	N/A	1/2
Mr. Chan Chun Kit (appointed on 6 August 2020)	2/2	2/2	1/1	N/A	0/1

#### Notes:

- 1. Mr. Liu Jianfeng appointed Mr. Lang Yu as his representative to attend two regular board meetings of the Company. The attendance of Mr. Lang Yu at the two regular board meetings were not included in the attendance record of Mr. Liu Jianfeng.
- 2. Mr. Zhou Liang Hao appointed Mr. Zhang Tao as his representative to attend four regular board meetings of the Company. The attendance of Mr. Zhang Tao at the four regular board meetings were not included in the attendance record of Mr. Zhou Liang Hao.
- 3. Mr. Wei Wei appointed Mr. Zhang Tao as his representative to attend one regular board meeting, one audit committee meeting and one remuneration committee meeting. The attendance of Mr. Zhang Tao at the three meetings were not included in the attendance record of Mr. Wei Wei.

#### **RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD**

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group and be collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group's affairs. The Board focuses on formulating, approval and monitoring the Group's overall strategies and policies, authorising the development plan and budget; monitoring and evaluating financial and operating performance; reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising and managing management's performance of the Group; and setting the Group's values and standards.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive Directors and senior management, while reserving certain key matters for its approval; and the day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Group to management. Decisions of the Board are communicated to the management through executive Directors who have attended at Board meetings. The delegated functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure that they accommodate the needs of the Group.

The Board may discharge its corporate governance duties by establishment of board committees and delegation of certain management and administration functions to the management.

#### **BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY**

The Company recognises that increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment of the Company's strategic objectives and sustainable development. The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the "Board Diversity Policy") which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to, skills, regional and industry experiences, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, gender and other qualities. The Company also takes into consideration of its own business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the optimal composition of the Board.

NC will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time, and propose to the Board for amendments when necessary.

#### **APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS**

The current Articles of Association provides that subject to the manner of retirement by rotation of Directors as from time to time prescribed by the GEM Listing Rules, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

#### PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist the Directors' continuing professional development, the Company recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All Directors also participate in continuous professional development programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board. Records of the training received by the respective Directors are kept. According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training received by the Directors during the Year is as follows:

Name of Directors	Reading seminar materials and updates relating to the latest development of the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements	Attending seminars, programmes, conferences relevant to the business or directors duties
Executive Directors		
Mr. Zhang Tao <i>(Chairman and CEO)</i>	<b>√</b>	<b>√</b>
Mr. Lang Yu	✓	✓
Mr. Liu Jianfeng	/	✓
Non-Executive Director		
Mr. Zhou Liang Hao	✓	✓
Independent Non-Executive Directors		
Mr. Yu Xiuyang	✓	<b>√</b>
Mr. Lau Shu Yan (resigned on 9 April 2020)	<b>√</b>	<b>√</b>
Mr. Wei Wei	/	<b>✓</b>
Mr. Chan Chun Kit (appointed on 6 August 2020)	✓	✓

#### **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

During the Year, the AC comprised Mr. Yu Xiuyang, Mr. Wei Wei (who was a member of the AC through the year ended 31 December 2020, and was appointed as the chairman of the AC on 9 April 2020 and re-designated to a member of the AC on 6 August 2020), Mr. Lau Shu Yan (who was the chairman of the AC until his resignation with effect from 9 April 2020) and Mr. Chan Chun Kit (who was appointed as the chairman of the AC on 6 August 2020). As at the date of this report, the AC comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr. Chan Chun Kit (chairman of the AC), Mr. Yu Xiuyang and Mr. Wei Wei. The terms of reference of the AC are available at the Company's website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

AC has primary responsibility for monitoring the quality of internal control and risk management system and ensuring that the financial performance of the Company is properly measured and reported on, receiving and reviewing reports from management and the auditors relating to the annual, interim and quarterly accounts, and monitoring the accounting and internal control system and risk management system in use throughout the Group. The AC is also responsible for (a) developing and reviewing the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance; (b) reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report; (c) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior management and the Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and (d) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors.

At the meetings held during the Year in performing its duties in accordance with its terms of reference, the work performed by the AC included:

- (a) review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control and risk management systems of the Company and its subsidiaries;
- (b) recommendation to the Board, for the approval by Shareholders, of the re-appointment of KTC Partners CPA Limited as the external auditor and approval of their remuneration;
- (c) determination of the nature and scope of the audit;
- (d) review the financial statements for the relevant periods;
- (e) review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group with the management and the Company's auditor; and
- (f) review the compliance with the CG Code, the disclosure in the corporate governance report, the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance.

#### **REMUNERATION COMMITTEE**

During the Year, the RC comprised Mr. Yu Xiuyang, Mr. Wei Wei, Mr. Chan Chun Kit (who was appointed on 6 August 2020) and Mr. Lau Shu Yan (who resigned on 9 April 2020). As at the date of this report, the RC comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr. Yu Xiuyang (chairman of the RC), Mr. Wei Wei and Mr. Chan Chun Kit. The terms of reference of the RC are available at the Company's website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the RC include consulting the Chairman about the remuneration proposals for other executive Directors, making recommendation to the Board on the Company's remuneration policy and structure for all Directors' and senior management. The RC has adopted the approach under the code provisions to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior management. The Directors are remunerated with reference to their respective duties and responsibility with the Company, the Company's performance and current market situation.

During the Year, the RC reviewed the Group's remuneration policy and structure; and reviewed the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior management of the Company.

Details of Directors' emoluments and the retirement benefit scheme contributions for the Year are disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

#### **NOMINATION COMMITTEE**

During the Year, the NC comprised Mr. Yu Xiuyang, Mr. Lau Shu Yan (who was the chairman of the NC until his resignation with effect from 9 April 2020), Mr. Zhang Tao (who was appointed as the chairman of the NC on 9 April 2020) and Mr. Chan Chun Kit (who was appointed on 6 August 2020). As at the date of this report, the NC comprises the chairman of the Board, Mr. Zhang Tao (chairman of the NC), two INEDs, Mr. Yu Xiuyang and Mr. Chan Chun Kit. The terms of reference of the NC are available at the Company's website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the NC include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and selecting individuals nominated for directorship (if necessary), assessing the independence of the INEDs and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

During the Year, the NC reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board and the policy and procedures for nomination of Directors and assessed the independence of INEDs.

#### **DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY**

Director nomination policy of the Group is in place to set out the procedures, process and criteria for identifying and recommending candidates for election to the Board of Directors. In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will take into account the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their experience in the card related products, liquor products and/or other professional areas.

#### **ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT**

#### **Financial Reporting**

The management provides such explanation and information to the Board and reports regularly to the Board on financial position and prospects of the business of the Company so as to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other information to be put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set out in the Independent Auditor's Report to this annual report on page 42) for preparing the financial statements of the Group, that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group.

The responsibility of the external auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board and to report their opinion to the Shareholders. A statement by auditor about their reporting responsibility is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report to this annual report on page 43.

#### **DISCLAIMER OF OPINION ON GOING CONCERN**

With respect to code provision C.1.3 of the CG Code, unless it is inappropriate to assume that the Company will continue in business, the directors should prepare the accounts on a going concern basis. The Directors are aware of material uncertainties that may cast doubt on the Company's going concern as stated in the independent auditors' report contained in this annual report.

As disclosed in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group incurred net loss of approximately RMB6,952,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately RMB28,269,000 and RMB27,931,000 respectively, whereas the bank balances and cash amounted to approximately RMB470,000. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, the validity of which depends upon the Group's ability to repay, renew or extend existing borrowings and other liabilities upon their maturities, through cash flows from operations and continuing support from the Group's finance providers and creditors.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated financial statements to adjust the carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the "FY2020 Financial Statements") do not include any of these adjustments that would result from the failure to continue to operate as a going concern.

#### The Company's position regarding the Disclaimer of Opinion

Reference is made to the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the "2019 Annual Report") and the supplemental announcement of the Company dated 20 August 2020 (the "Supplemental Announcement") in relation to, inter alia, the disclaimer of opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 made by auditors of the Company (the "Auditor").

As disclosed in the 2019 Annual Report and the Supplemental Announcement, the Directors implemented cost control and debt recovery measures as well as engaging in negotiations with banks for external financing in order to improve the working capital and liquidity and cash flow position of the Group:

As the result of the aforementioned measures implemented by the Group, the Group's general and administrative expenses decreased to approximately RMB5,877,000 for the Year (2019: approximately RMB12,606,000), whilst the Group was able to recover during the Year approximately RMB212,000 of outstanding trade and other receivables resulting in a reversal of the impairment losses under expected credit loss model. In addition, the Group has been able to successfully reduce the amount of its current liabilities as at 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB34,410,000 (as at 31 December 2019: RMB84,983,000) and increase the bank and cash balance as at 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB470,000 (as at 31 December 2019: RMB231,000). This lead to an improvement of the Group's net loss position to approximately RMB6,952,000 (2019: approximately RMB37,427,000).

According, in preparing the FY 2020 Financial Statements, the Directors have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group and adopted the going concern in view of the effectiveness of its cost control measures, the expected recovery of trade receivables from customers or debtors, and the availability of external bank facilities.

In addition to providing the evidences and documents requested by the Auditor during the auditing process for the Year, the Directors has also endeavoured to provide the required documents to address the disclaimer of opinion made in relation to the FY2020 Financial Statements by, inter alia, engaging in active negotiations with substantial shareholders to obtain their letter of financial support. However, despite the Company's efforts, the Company was unable to obtain the substantial shareholder's letter of support pursuant to the request of the Auditor. Due to the limitation of the auditing procedure, in the opinion of the Auditor, they cannot form an opinion as to whether the use of going concern assumption in preparation of the FY2020 Financial Statements is appropriate without the letter of financial support as evidentiary documents supporting such assumption. In the absence of other alternative audit procedures which can be carried out, the Auditor issued the disclaimer of opinion (the "Disclaimer of Opinion").

Although the management is of the view that the Group would be able to continue its business as a going concern based on the assumptions that they would be able to obtain additional cash flow form the customers, debtors and bank(s) as mentioned above, the management considered the Auditor's view and understand their consideration in arriving their view towards the matter.

#### **Audit Committee's view on the Disclaimer of Opinion**

In the course of approving the FY2020 Financial Statements, members of the Audit Committee reviewed the information provided by the management in relation to auditing process and had a meeting with the auditor in relation to the details and reasons of arriving at the Disclaimer of Opinion.

The Audit Committee, having considered the management's report on the auditing process (in particular, the effectiveness of the cost control and debt recovery measures, agreed on the management's position, shared the view of the Auditor towards the Disclaimer of Opinion and expressed no further comments on it.

#### Steps to address the Disclaimer of Opinion

Given the effectiveness of the cost control and debt recovery measures implemented during the Year, the Group would continue to implement effective measures to avoid incurring unnecessary cost expenses and to improve its cash position.

In addition, the Group endeavours to continue its negotiations with the substantial shareholders with the view to obtain their irrevocable undertaking to provide necessary financial assistance to the Group with evidence of them having sufficient resources to meeting such needs, where necessary for the auditing process for the year ending 31 December 2021. The Group will also continue to negotiate with certain bankers to obtain bank facilities as and when necessary, so as to enable it to meet its liabilities when they fail due and carry on its business without a significant impact or restrictions to its operations during the year ending 31 December 2021.

#### **RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL**

During the Year, the Group complied with code provision C.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. Management of the Company is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. The risk management and internal control systems, under a defined management structure with limits of authority, are designed for the Group to identify and manage the significant risks to pursue its business objectives, safeguard its assets against unauthorised use or disposition, enhance effectiveness and efficiency of its operations, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records for reliable financial reporting, and ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Main features of the risk management and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

#### **Risk Management System**

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk associated with its business and operations. The risk management process is structured from management of the Group from respective business functions at execution level to the Board in decision-making and monitoring level. The system comprises the following phases:

- Identification: Management of the Group identifies, assesses and prioritises the key existing and potential risks through
  a detailed assessment process and determines the appropriate mitigation strategies and control measures in response
  of the identified risks.
- Evaluation: Ongoing analysis of the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluation and monitoring of the identified risks, respective measures, and such are carried out and reported by the management to the Board regularly.
- Management: The Board at decision-making level reviews the risk appetite, risk management process and strategies and also the internal control systems and provides recommendations for any improvement on the systems in an ongoing basis to ensure risk management effectiveness.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2020, no significant risk was identified.

#### **Internal Control System**

The Company has put in place an internal control system which enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follows:

- Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that provides the basis for carrying out internal
  control across the Group.
- Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be managed.
- *Control Activities:* Action established by policies and procedures to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.
- Information and Communication: Internal and external communication to provide the Group with the information needed to carry out day-to-day controls.
- Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each components of internal control is present and functioning.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

- The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.
- · Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into significant negotiations.
- The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2020, no significant control deficiency was identified.

The review of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group is an ongoing process and the Board maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen the Group's control environment and processes.

#### INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Company engaged an external professional firm to carry out an internal control review on the internal control system of the Group during the Year. The review covers certain business cycles and procedures undertaken by the Group, and make recommendations for improving and strengthening the internal control system.

The review of the risk management and internal control system is conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via AC. No significant area of concern that may affect the financial, operational, compliance, control and risk management of the Group has been identified.

#### **Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems**

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board's reviews, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and the external environment; and (ii) the scope and quality of management's ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.

During the Year, the Board, through the reviews made by it and the AC, reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems. The Company considered the Group's risk management and internal control systems are effective and adequate. It is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

#### **Auditor's Remuneration**

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the fees paid/payable to the Company's auditor is set out as follows:

Services Rendered	Fees paid/ payable RMB'000
Audit services Non-audit services (Note)	934 142
Total	1,076

Note: Non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2020 is consisted of review of the Group's quarterly and interim financial reports.

#### **COMPANY SECRETARY**

The Company engaged Ms. Leung Hoi Yan, who is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) and has been working with BPO Global Services Limited, as its company secretary (the "Company Secretary"). Its primary corporate contact person at the Company is Mr. Zhang Tao, the executive Director of the Company.

#### **SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE**

The supervisory committee of the Company (the "Supervisory Committee") currently comprises three members, namely Mr. Zhou Jie, Mr. You Xiaohua and Ms. Huang Sanhuan.

The Supervisory Committee is responsible for exercising supervision over the Board and its members and the senior management; and preventing them from abusing their power and authorities and infringing on the legitimate rights and interests of the Shareholders, the Company and the employees. During the Year, one meeting of Supervisory Committee was held and one written proposal was made by the Supervisory Committee to review the financial positions of the Group.

#### **DIVIDEND POLICY**

The Company may only pay dividends after the following allocations have been made:

- outstanding losses, if any;
- statutory surplus reserve;
- statutory public welfare fund; and
- discretionary surplus reserve (subject to Shareholders' approval).

The respective allocation to statutory surplus reserve and statutory public welfare fund shall be 10% and 5% to 10% of the profit after tax of the company respectively determined in accordance with the PRC accounting standards. Pursuant to the PRC law, the distributable reserves of the Company shall be the net profit determined in accordance with the PRC accounting standards or accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong (whichever is lower) after the allocations to statutory surplus reserve, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary surplus reserve.

As the Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio, the declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the Directors, and the amount of dividends actually declared and paid to holders of H Shares will also depend upon the following factors:

- overall operating results of the Company;
- financial results of the Company;
- capital requirements of the Company;
- interests of Shareholders;
- credit rating of the Company; and
- any other factors which the Directors may deem relevant.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the cash dividends on H Shares shall be declared in Renminbi but shall be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The conversion of Renminbi into Hong Kong dollars shall comply with the regulations of the PRC on foreign currency control. Renminbi shall be converted into Hong Kong dollars at the average conversion rate quoted by the People's Bank of China during the week immediately before the date on which the payment of dividends is declared. If the Company does not have sufficient foreign currency for payment of dividends in Hong Kong dollars, it will obtain the necessary Hong Kong dollars by converting Renminbi through authorized banks and other financial institutions.

#### SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

#### (a) Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 8.04 of the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors shall hold an extraordinary meeting of Shareholders within two months, where one Shareholder holding at least 10% of the shares with the voting rights issued by the Company requires the holding of an extraordinary meeting of Shareholders in writing;

Pursuant to Article 8.25 of the Articles of Association, if Shareholders ask to convene an extraordinary meeting of Shareholders or class shareholders' meeting, the following procedures shall apply:

- (1) Two or more Shareholders holding more than 10% or more of the shares with the voting rights at the proposed meeting can sign one or more written requests with the same format and contents, requesting the Board of Directors convene an extraordinary meeting of Shareholders or class Shareholders' meeting, and stating the topics of the meeting. After receipt of the aforesaid written request, the Board of Directors shall hold the extraordinary meeting of Shareholders or the meeting of class Shareholders as soon as possible. The number of shares held are calculated as of the date on which the Shareholders come up with the written request; and
- (2) If the Board of Directors does not distribute the notice on holding the meeting within 30 days after receipts of the aforesaid written request, the shareholder putting forward such requirement can convene the meeting on his own within four months after the Board of Directors receives such request, and the convening procedure should strive to be the same as the procedure with which the Board of Directors convenes the general meeting of Shareholders;

The requisition must specify the objects of the meeting, be signed by the requisitionists, and be deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholders' contact details and the resolution intended to be put forward at general meeting.

Pursuant to the Article 8.07 of the Articles of Association, the Company will calculate the shares with the voting right represented by the Shareholders planning to attend the meeting according to the written reply received 20 days before the general meeting of Shareholders is held. The Company can hold the general meeting of Shareholders when the shares with the voting right represented by the Shareholders planning to attend the meeting exceed more than half of the total shares of the Company with the voting right; and otherwise, the Company shall notify the Shareholders again of the issues to be reviewed, the date and the venue of the meeting in the form of announcement within 5 days, and then the Company can hold the general meeting of Shareholders.

#### (b) Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Article 8.06 of the Articles of Association, if the Company holds the general meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors, the board of supervisors and the Shareholders holding more than 3% of the Company shares either independently or collectively shall have the right to submit proposals to the Company. The contents of the proposal shall fall into the authority of the general meeting of Shareholders, have clear topics and concrete issues for resolution and comply with relevant provisions of the laws, regulations and the Articles of Association. Such proposals shall be delivered to the Company within 30 days after the sending of the aforesaid notice. The convener shall distribute a supplementary notice on the General Meeting of Shareholders within 2 working days after receipt of such proposals, announce the contents of such temporary proposals, and moderately postpone the meeting.

#### (c) Procedures for Shareholders to Propose for Election as a Director

For including a resolution to propose a person for election as a Director at general meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the Articles of Association. Pursuant to the Article 10.02 of the Articles of Association, the written notice on the intent to nominate a candidate for director and the intent of the candidate to accept the nomination shall be delivered to the Company's principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary after the date when the notice on the general meeting of Shareholders is sent and seven days before the holding of the general meeting of Shareholders.

In order for the Company to inform its Shareholders of that proposal, the written notice must state the full name of the person proposed for election as a director, include the person's biographical details as required by the GEM Listing Rules, and be signed by the shareholder concerned and that person indicating his/her willingness to be elected.

#### (d) Right and Procedures for Shareholders to Put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong. Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company's information to the extent that such information is publicly available.

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary or by email to us at szmw@mwcard.com.

#### **INVESTORS' RELATIONS**

The Company places great emphasis on its relationship and communication with investors. The Company has numerous communication channels, such as press conference and seminars, to communicate with the media, analysts and fund managers. Designated senior management staff holds dialogue with analysts, fund managers and investors, who are also arranged to visit the Company and investment projects from time to time, so as to keep them abreast of the Group's business and latest developments. In addition, investors can also visit the Company's website at www.mwcard.com for the most updated information and the status of the business development of the Group.

#### **CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS**

During the Year and by an ad hoc resolution passed by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3 February 2020, article 1.03 of the Articles of Association was amended as follows:

Registered office: Room 5D, JINRUN BUILDING (金潤大廈) SHEN NAN Avenue 6019, Futian District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province, the People's Republic of China (previously known as "Room 5D, Jinrun Building Chegongmiao, Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the People's Republic of

China")

Zip Code: 518000

Telephone number: (0755) 83361971/83361998

Facsimile number: (0755) 83361990

#### **COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS**

The Board and senior management recognise the responsibility of safeguarding the interest of shareholders of the Company and provide highly transparent and real-time information on the Company so as to keep the shareholders and investors abreast of the Company's position and help them to make the best investment decision. The Company believes that maintaining good and effective communication with shareholders can facilitate the shareholders' understanding of the business performance and strategies of the Group. The Company reports its financial and operating performance to shareholders through annual reports, interim reports and quarterly reports. Shareholders of the Company can also obtain information of the Group in time through annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports, announcements, circulars, press releases and the Company's website www.mwcard.com.

## **Directors and Supervisors**

#### **DIRECTORS**

#### **Executive Directors**

Mr. Zhang Tao, aged 40, has served as an executive Director and the Chairman since 11 April 2017 and 11 January 2018, respectively. He has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer, an authorised representative of the Company and a compliance officer of the Company since 8 February 2018. He was appointed as the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company on 9 April 2020. He has over 10 years of experience in the management of companies in the information technology industry. Before joining the Company, he worked as the chairman and general manager of Beijing Fengdong Technology Limited, a company specialized in development of software and hardware products. He holds a bachelor degree with major in Media Studies from Massey University in New Zealand. He served as the chief information officer of Fast Key Holdings Limited from July 2016 to June 2017. Since July 2017, he has served as the chief information officer of Mingwah Aohan Investment Group Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, and is responsible for information management and provision of administrative support to the Group.

**Mr. Lang Yu**, aged 49, is an executive Director appointed on 27 June 2019. He obtained a bachelor degree in international trades from the University of International Business and Economics (對外經濟貿易大學) in 1993 and a master degree in business administration degree from the University of Miami in 1999. Prior to joining the Company, he worked in Googut Wine & Spirits Co., Ltd\* (歌德盈香股份有限公司) from March 2014 to May 2019 where he was promoted to the position of vice president. From December 2011 to March 2014, he worked as the vice-general manager of DeWe Holding Group Co., Ltd\* (德威控股集團有限公司). Mr. Lang has over 10 years of experience in business administration and has worked in multinational conglomerates as well as a governmental body. Mr. Lang is currently also a director of Googut Mingwah (Hong Kong) Limited (the "HKJV"), a joint venture company formed between the Group and Googut Wine & Spirits Trading Company Limited, where the Group is interested in 40% of the entire issued share capital of the HKJV.

**Mr. Liu Jianfeng**, aged 53, is an executive Director appointed on 10 September 2019. Mr. Liu, obtained a bachelor degree in engineering for macromolecular materials from Beijing Institute of Chemical Technology\* (北京化工學院) (now known as Beijing University of Chemical Technology (北京化工大學) in July 1970. From April 2012 to August 2019, Mr. Liu worked as the vice president of Googut Wine & Spirits Co., Ltd\* (歌德盈香股份有限公司) ("Googut").

#### **Non-Executive Director**

Mr. Zhou Liang Hao, aged 45, is a non-executive Director appointed on 4 August 2016. He has rich experience in financial management, corporate governance, supply chain management and high technology areas. Since 2007, he has been the chief financial officer of Zhong Tian Tai Fu (Beijing) Technology Limited. Before that, he worked in Beijing Guang Gu Technology Limited from 1997 to 2007 and was the chief financial controller in 2007. He graduated with a Bachelor Degree in Thermal Engineering from Beijing University of Technology in 1999.

#### Directors and Supervisors (continued)

#### **Independent Non-Executive Directors**

Mr. Yu Xiuyang, aged 66, is an independent non-executive Director appointed on 1 September 2015. He is currently the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company and the members of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He graduated from the Faculty of Law at Shanghai University in 1998, and worked as the member of the Legal Publicity Division of Shanghai Bureau of Justice, the head of the research department of the Shanghai Law Society and the associate editor of Shanghai Journal of Legal Studies in 1997. In 2003, he founded Sunglow Elite Law Firm and has been serving as the head of the firm since then. He was the executive director and vice president of Glorious Property Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, from February 2009 to May 2014. He was an executive director of DL Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as Season Pacific Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 1709) from May 2018 to November 2019.

**Mr. Wei Wei**, aged 44, is an independent non-executive Director appointed on 20 March 2019. He is currently the members of the audit committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. He was appointed as the chairman of the audit committee of the Company on 9 April 2020 and re-designated to a member of the audit committee of the Company on 6 August 2020. He graduated from Jilin University(吉林大學)in July 1999 with major in economic law. Mr. Wei has more than six years of experience in the legal industry. He has been a PRC practicing lawyer of Shanghai Huiye Law Office\* (上海市匯業律師事務所) since June 2006.

**Mr. Chan Chun Kit**, aged 38, is an independent non-executive Director appointed on 6 August 2020. He is currently the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and the members of the nomination committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. He obtained from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University a bachelor's degree in accountancy in 2007 and a master's degree in corporate governance in 2014. He is a member of each of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Singapore Institute of Directors.

He has over ten years of experience in financial advisory, financial reporting, financial management, corporate governance and auditing industry in Hong Kong, Singapore and Canada. From September 2007 to May 2011, he worked in an international audit firm. He was (i) the chief financial officer and company secretary of China Flexible Packaging Holdings Limited, a company with its shares formerly listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "Singapore Exchange") with stock code CFLX which was privatised and delisted from the Singapore Exchange in October 2017, from May 2011 to June 2018; and (ii) the regional financial controller of KTL Global Limited, a company with its shares listed on the Singapore Exchange with stock code EB7, from November 2018 to March 2020.

From July 2017 to June 2018, he was an independent non-executive director of Hua Han Health Industry Holdings Limited, a company with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") with stock code 587. He is currently (a) an independent non-executive director of Universe Printshop Holdings Limited, a company with its shares listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code 8448, since February 2018; (b) a director of Raffles Financial Group Limited, a company with its shares listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange under stock code RICH, since April 2020; and (c) an independent director of GS Holdings Limited, a company with its shares listed on the Singapore Exchange with stock code 43A, since May 2019.

#### Directors and Supervisors (continued)

#### **SUPERVISORS**

Mr. Zhou Jie, aged 29, obtained a college diploma in computer applications technology from Hubei Xianning Vocational Technical College (湖北咸寧職業技術學院) in June 2013. From March 2014 to January 2017, he worked as a network maintenance officer in Shenzhen Everwin Precision Technology Co, Ltd. (深圳市長盈精密技術股份有限公司). He is currently an IT staff in Nitto Denko Fine Circuit Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (日東精密回路技術深圳有限公司) since September 2017.

Mr. You Xiaohua, aged 42, obtained a bachelor degree in law from Changzhou University (常州大學) (formerly known as "Jiangsu Institute of Petrochemical Technology (江蘇石油化工學院)") in July 2002. From December 2016 to June 2018, he worked as the general manager and the secretary of the board of directors of Beijing Golong Technology Development Co., Ltd (北京國農基業科技發展股份有限公司) ("Beijing Golong") which is a company listed on National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock code: 832425). From July 2002 to September 2015, he worked as the deputy director of the legal department of Sinopec Sales Company Limited (中國石化銷售有限公司). He was an independent non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee of the Company from July 2018 to March 2019; and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company in March 2019. He is currently a director of Beijing Golong since December 2016 and a general manager of the Shanghai branch of the Company since 20 March 2019.

Ms. Huang Sanhuan, aged 29, graduated from a distance learning programme provided by Henan Vocational Technical College (河南職業技術學院) in July 2014 with a major in production management. Ms. Huang worked in Shenzhen Honghui Technology Co., Ltd. (深圳市閎輝科技有限公司) from March 2008 to June 2013 as a production line manager. She has been working in Shenzhen Junhe Tongde Technology Co., Ltd. (深圳市鈞合通德科技有限公司) as a quality manager since March 2017.

#### **COMPLIANCE OFFICER**

**Mr. Zhang Tao** is the compliance officer of the Company appointed on 8 February 2018. He will advise on and assist the Board in implementing procedures to ensure that the Company complies with the GEM Listing Rules and other relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Company and responding promptly and efficiently to all enquiries directed to him by the Stock Exchange. Details of Mr. Zhang Tao's background and qualifications are set out under section "Executive Directors" above.

## **Report of Supervisory Committee**

To the Shareholders.

The Supervisory Committee of the Company, in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations and the Articles of Association, has conducted its work in accordance with the fiduciary principle, and has taken up an active role to work seriously and with diligence to protect the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

During the Year, the Supervisory Committee had reviewed cautiously the development plans of the Company and provided reasonable suggestions and opinions to the Board. It also strictly and effectively monitored and supervised the Company's management in making significant policies and decisions to ensure that they are in compliance with the laws and regulations of the PRC and the Articles of Association, and in the interests of its shareholders.

We have reviewed and agreed to the report of the Directors and audited consolidated financial statements for presentation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. We are of the opinion that the Directors and other senior management of the Company are able to strictly observe their fiduciary duty, to exercise their authority faithfully in the best interests of the Company and to work in accordance with the Articles of Association and operate in compliance manner.

Up till now, none of the Directors, chief executive and senior management staff had been found to have abused their authority, damaged the interests of the Company or infringed upon the interests of its shareholders and employees. None of them was found to be in breach of any laws and regulations or the Articles of Association.

**Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited** 

Mr. You Xiaohua

Shenzhen, the PRC, 24 March 2021

## **Directors' Report**

The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

#### PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the Card and Related Products Business; and (ii) the Wine Business. A detailed business review for the year ended 31 December 2020, including further discussions of important events occurred since the end of the financial year, likely future development of the Group's business and financial performance review with financial key performance indicators, are set out in "Chairman's Statement" on pages 3 to 4, and "Management Discussion and Analysis" on page 5 to 12, respectively. These discussions form part of this report of the Directors. The ESG matters under Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as specified in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules will be published in a separate report. To build a solid foundation for the Group's sustainable development, the Group recognises its employees, customers and business partners being the key stakeholders and maintain a continuous dialogue with them. The Group is dedicated to establish a close and supporting relationship with its employees, provide quality products and services to customers and strengthen all kinds of cooperation with its business partners.

#### PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Details of principal risks and uncertainties of the Group are set out in "Management Discussion and Analysis" on page 11 to 12.

#### **ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE**

The Group considers the importance of environmental affairs and recognises its corporate responsibility regarding environmental and social sustainability. Although the impact on carbon emission and the environment is minimal due to the nature of the Group's principal businesses, the Group implements green office practices such as reducing the use of papers and lowering energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical appliances. The Group will continue its endeavors to promote environmental and social sustainability in the Group's operations through various initiatives consistent with its policies and relevant laws and regulations.

#### ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and neither the Directors nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right.

### **MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS**

During the Year, there were no supplier involved in the Group's business.

During the Year, the largest customer accounted for approximately 52.3% of the revenue of the Group. The five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 100% of the Group's revenue in the year ended 31 December 2020.

None of the Directors, the supervisors, their associates or any shareholders which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital had any interest in the five largest suppliers or customers (where applicable).

#### **RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS**

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 44 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend (2019: Nil).

### **FIVE YEARS' FINANCIAL SUMMARY**

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 110 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

#### **RESERVES**

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 46 of this annual report. The Company has no reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020.

### PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment during the Year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

### **SHARE CAPITAL**

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

### **BORROWINGS**

Details of borrowings of the Group are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

#### **COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS**

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied with applicable laws and regulations promulgated by the relevant regulatory bodies which are significant to the operations of the Group.

#### **DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS**

The Directors and supervisors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were as follows:

#### **Executive Directors**

Mr. Zhang Tao (Chairman and chief executive officer)

Mr. Lang Yu Mr. Liu Jianfeng

#### **Non-Executive Director**

Mr. Zhou Liang Hao

## **Independent Non-Executive Directors**

Mr. Yu Xiuyang

Mr. Lau Shu Yan (resigned on 9 April 2020)

Mr. Wei Wei

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (appointed on 6 August 2020)

#### **Supervisors**

Mr. Zhou Jie

Mr. You Xiaohua

Ms. Huang Sanhuan

In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Directors are elected at a shareholders' meeting of the Company for a term of three years, renewable upon re-election at re-appointment. Pursuant to article 10.02 of the Articles of Association, at each annual meeting of the shareholders of the Company, one third of the current directors (if the number of directors is not three or multiples of three, the number shall be the closest to, but no less than, one third) shall depart in rotation. Pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Details of the Directors who will retire by rotation and proposed to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM") will be disclosed in the accompanying circular to the shareholder of the AGM.

### **DIRECTOR'S SERVICE CONTRACTS**

No director or supervisor proposed for the reelection at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

#### **DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS**

(a) Directors', chief executives' and supervisors' interest in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors, supervisors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong ("SFO")) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be entered in the register pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

# (b) Substantial shareholders' and other persons interests and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2020, the persons or companies (not being a director, chief executive or supervisor of the Company) have interests and/or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO are listed as follows:

Name of substantial shareholder	Nature of interest	Number and class of securities (Note 1)	Approximate percentage of shares in the same class	Approximate percentage of total registered share capital
Googut Wine & Spirits Co., Ltd.* (歌德盈香股份有限公司) ("Googut")	Beneficial owner	228,240,000 domestic shares (L) (Note 2)	38.05%	28.53%
Shanghai Beiyan Enterprises Limited* (上海北燕實業有限公司) ("Shanghai Beiyan")	Beneficial owner	172,640,000 domestic shares (L)	28.78%	21.58%
Zheng Qi (鄭琪) (Note 3)	Interest in controlled corporation	172,640,000 domestic shares (L)	28.78%	21.58%
Zhang Nan	Beneficial owner	110,000,000 domestic shares (L)	18.34%	13.75%
Zhuoyu Hengtai (Beijing) Safety Equipment Company Limited ("Zhuoyu Hengtai")	Beneficial owner	58,240,000 domestic shares (L) (Note 2)	9.71%	7.28%
Shenzhen Gangao Huijin Investment Company Limited	Beneficial owner	33,800,000 domestic shares (L)	5.64%	4.23%
Guo Fan	Beneficial owner	31,460,000 domestic shares (L)	5.25%	3.93%
Princeps MB Asset Management Corp.	Beneficial owner	11,416,000 H shares (L)	5.70%	1.43%

#### Notes:

- The letter "L" denotes the shareholders' long position in the shares of the Company.
- 2. Based on the information provided by the relevant person(s), Googut was interested in (i) 170,000,000 domestic shares which were beneficially owned by Googut; and (ii) 58,240,000 domestic shares which were the subject matter of an equity transfer agreement dated 21 August 2019 entered into between Googut and Zhuoyu Hengtai. As at 31 December 2020, these 58,240,000 domestic shares were held by Zhuoyu Hengtai, subject to the completion of the equity transfer agreement.
- 3. Mr. Zheng Qi owned 80% of the shares of Shanghai Beiyan. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zheng Qi is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by Shanghai Beiyan.
- \* For identification purposes only

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company had not been notified by any person who had any interests and/or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

#### **DIRECTORS' AND SUPERVISORS' RIGHT TO ACQUIRE H SHARES**

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors, supervisors and chief executive of the Company was granted options to subscribe for H shares of the Company. As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors, supervisors and chief executives of the Company had any rights to acquire H shares in the Company.

# DIRECTORS' AND SUPERVISORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a supervisor of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2020 or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2020.

#### **SHARE OPTION SCHEME**

The Company has not granted or issued any option up to 31 December 2020.

#### RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the transactions of the Group (including related parties transactions as described in Note 36 of the consolidated financial statements) constitute any connected transactions and continuing connected transactions that are not exempt from compliance with the annual reporting requirement under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

#### **EMOLUMENT POLICY**

The emolument policy of the Group is on the basis of the qualifications and contributions of individuals to the Group.

Upon appointment of a Director, the Director's fees and/or emoluments was determined by the Remuneration Committee and the Board with reference to, inter alia, the individual's past experience, responsibilities in the Group and the prevailing market conditions. The Director's fees are subject to shareholders' further approval at the general meeting.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management, as well as the five highest paid individuals, for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in Note 16 of the consolidated financial statements.

#### **TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION**

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

### SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company's total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of the annual report.

#### **EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD**

There is no material event undertaken by the Company or the Group subsequent to 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

#### **CORPORATE GOVERNANCE**

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out in the "Corporate Governance Report" on page 13 to 28 of this annual report.

#### PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against directors of the Group.

#### **EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS**

The Company has no equity linked agreements that were entered into or subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2020.

### **COMPETING INTERESTS**

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the Company or their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or may compete with the business of the Company during the year under review.

#### **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

As at the date of this annual report, the audit committee of the Company comprises three independent non-executive directors, Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Chairman), Mr. Yu Xiuyang and Mr. Wei Wei. Details of the primary function of the audit committee are set out in the section "AUDIT COMMITTEE" of the Corporate Governance Report.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company.

#### **AUDITOR**

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by Messrs. KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The audit committee of the Company has recommended to the Board of the Company, and a resolution will be proposed, for the re-appointment of Messrs. KTC Partners CPA Limited as auditor of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

There has been no change of auditors in the past three years.

### PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed shares.

By Order of the Board **Zhang Tao** 

Chairman

Shenzhen, the PRC, 24 March 2021

# **Independent Auditor's Report**



#### TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SHENZHEN MINGWAH AOHAN HIGH TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION LIMITED

(Incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

## **DISCLAIMER OF OPINION**

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 44 to 109, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we are unable to form an opinion as to whether the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and of the Group's financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

### **BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION**

### Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group incurred net loss of approximately RMB6,952,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately RMB28,269,000 and RMB27,931,000 respectively whereas its bank balances and cash amounted to approximately RMB470,000 only as at the same date.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding the abovementioned, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the Group's ability to repay, renew or extend existing borrowings and other liabilities upon their maturities, through cash flows from operations and continuing support from the Group's finance providers and creditors. The directors of the Company have prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, having taken into account the measures they have taken and plan to take to mitigate the liquidity pressures on the Group and to improve the Group's financial position, as disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. Up to the date of this report, we were unable to obtain sufficient supporting bases from the management for their underlying assumptions on going concern as set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements to satisfy ourselves that they were reasonable and supportable. Hence we were unable to assess the appropriateness or reasonableness of the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Because of the significance of the matters above, we are unable to form an opinion as to whether the use of going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is appropriate. Should the Group fails to achieve the intended effects resulting from the plans and measures as mentioned in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, it might not be able to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the Group's assets to their net realisable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

# RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

# Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

# AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor's report. However, because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code") and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

#### **KTC Partners CPA Limited**

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph

**Audit Engagement Director** 

Practising Certificate Number: P04686

Hong Kong 24 March 2021

# **Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income**

For the year ended 31 December 2020

	Notes	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Revenue	5	10,154	50,273
Cost of sales		(9,847)	(45,223)
Gross profit		307	5,050
Other income	7	40	1,152
Other gains and losses	8	1,194	_
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net of reversal	9	(1,648)	(15,133)
Impairment loss on intangible assets	19	-	(8,915)
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures	20	-	(4,972)
Distribution and selling expenses		(49)	(179)
General and administrative expenses		(5,877)	(12,606)
Finance costs	10	(872)	(1,071)
Share of loss of joint ventures		-	(2)
Loss before taxation	11	(6,905)	(36.676)
Income tax expense	12	(47)	(751)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company		(6,952)	(37,427)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)			
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss			
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations		199	(463)
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to		(, ===)	(0.5.6.5.)
owners of the Company		(6,753)	(37,890)
Lancardon			
Loss per share	10	(0.07)	(/ (0)
Basic and diluted (RMB' cents)	13	(0.87)	(4.68)

# **Consolidated Statement of Financial Position**

At 31 December 2020

	Notes	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	17	45	386
Right-of-use assets	18	498	797
Interests in joint ventures	20	1	1
·			
		544	1,184
Current assets			
Inventories	21	_	9,418
Trade and other receivables and deposits	22	5,671	53,826
Bank balances and cash	23	470	231
		6,141	63,475
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables	24	12,107	61,808
Income tax payable		2,195	2,178
Lease liabilities	25	301	292
Amount due to a related company	26	7.464	
Amounts due to shareholders	27	5,191	5,149
Amount due to a director	28	399	
Other borrowings	29	6,753	15,556
oner benowings			10,000
		34,410	84,983
Net current liabilities		(28,269)	(21,508)
Total assets less current liabilities		(27,725)	(20,324)
N			
Non-current liabilities	0.5	207	FOR
Lease liabilities	25	206	507
		206	507
Net liabilities		(27,931)	(20,831)
Net traditities		(27,731)	(20,031)
Capital and reserves			
Share capital	30	80,000	80,000
Reserves		(107,931)	(101,178)
Deficit attributable to owners of the Company		(27,931)	(21,178)
Non-controlling interests		-	347
		(07.001)	(00.001)
Total deficiency		(27,931)	(20,831)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 44 to 109 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Zhang Tao

Mr. Lang Yu

Director

Director

# **Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity**

For the year ended 31 December 2020

			Attributable	to owners of t	he Company				
	Share capital RMB'000	Share premium RMB'000	Statutory surplus reserve RMB'000 (Note (a))	Statutory public welfare fund RMB'000 (Note (b))	Translation reserve RMB'000 (Note (c))	Accumulated losses RMB'000	Sub-total RMB'000	Non- controlling interests RMB'000	Total RMB'000
At 1 January 2019	80,000	71,974	5,040	2,411	(897)	(141,816)	16,712	347	17,059
Loss for the year	_	_	_	_	_	(37,427)	(37,427)	_	(37,427)
Other comprehensive loss									
for the year	_	_	_	_	(463)	_	(463)		(463)
At 31 December 2019	80,000	71,974	5,040	2,411	(1,360)	(179,243)	(21,178)	347	(20,831)
Loss for the year	_		_		_	(6,952)	(6,952)	_	(6,952)
Other comprehensive loss									
for the year	-	-	-	-	199	-	199	-	199
Deregistration of a subsidiary									
(Note 31(i))	-	-	(321)	(160)	-	481	-	(347)	(347)
At 31 December 2020	80,000	71,974	4,719	2,251	(1,161)	(185,714)	(27,931)	-	(27,931)

#### Notes:

#### (a) Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to the Company Law in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"), the Company and its subsidiaries shall appropriate 10% of its profit after taxation each year to the statutory surplus reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the registered share capital. According to the provision of the Company's Articles of Association, in normal circumstances, the statutory surplus reserve shall only be used for marking up losses, capitalisation into share capital and expansion of the Company's operation. For the capitalisation of statutory surplus reserve into share capital, the remaining amount of such reserve shall not be less than 25% of the registered share capital.

#### (b) Statutory public welfare fund

Prior to 1 January 2006, the Company is required in each year to transfer 5% to 10% of the profit after taxation to the statutory public welfare fund. Starting from 1 January 2006 the Group is not required to transfer any profit after taxation to statutory public welfare fund in accordance with the amendment in the PRC Companies Ordinance.

#### (c) Translation reserve

Translation reserve is arising from the translation of foreign currencies in overseas subsidiaries from its functional currency to the Group's presentation currency.

# **Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows**

For the year ended 31 December 2020

DPERATING ACTIVITIES Loss before taxation Adjustments for: Impairment loss on intangible assets Bank interest income Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Depreciation of right-of-use assets Finance costs Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  (Poercease) (increase) in trade and other receivables	(6,905)  - (1) 49 299 872 (1,930) 1,648 - 666 44 26 - (5,232) 9,418 - 45,835 (48,431)	(36,676)  8,915 (1) 155 100 1,071 - 15,133 4,972 2 (6,329) (7,972) 596 (19,540)
Adjustments for: Impairment loss on intangible assets Bank interest income Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Depreciation of right-of-use assets Finance costs Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	(1) 49 299 872 (1,930) 1,648 - 666 44 26 - (5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	8,915 (1) 155 100 1,071 - 15,133 4,972 - - - 2 (6,329) (7,972) 596
Adjustments for: Impairment loss on intangible assets Bank interest income Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Depreciation of right-of-use assets Finance costs Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	(1) 49 299 872 (1,930) 1,648 - 666 44 26 - (5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	8,915 (1) 155 100 1,071 - 15,133 4,972 - - - 2 (6,329) (7,972) 596
Impairment loss on intangible assets Bank interest income Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Depreciation of right-of-use assets Finance costs Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	49 299 872 (1,930) 1,648 - 666 44 26 - (5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	(1) 155 100 1,071 - 15,133 4,972 - - 2 (6,329) (7,972) 596
Bank interest income Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Depreciation of right-of-use assets Finance costs Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	49 299 872 (1,930) 1,648 - 666 44 26 - (5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	155 100 1,071 - 15,133 4,972 - - - 2 (6,329) (7,972) 596
Depreciation of right-of-use assets Finance costs Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	299 872 (1,930) 1,648 - 666 44 26 - (5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	100 1,071 - 15,133 4,972 - - 2 (6,329) (7,972) 596
Finance costs Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	872 (1,930) 1,648 - 666 44 26 - (5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	1,071 - 15,133 4,972 - - 2 (6,329) (7,972) 596
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	(1,930) 1,648 - 666 44 26 - (5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	15,133 4,972 - - 2 (6,329) (7,972) 596
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	1,648 - 666 44 26 - (5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	(6,329) (7,972) 596
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	(5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	(6,329) (7,972) 596
Written off of trade receivables Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	(5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	(6,329) (7,972) 596
Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	(5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	(6,329) (7,972) 596
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Share of loss of joint ventures  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	(5,232) 9,418 - 45,835	(6,329) (7,972) 596
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	(5,232) 9,418 – 45,835	(6,329) (7,972) 596
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	9,418 - 45,835	(6,329) (7,972) 596
Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	9,418 - 45,835	(7,972) 596
Decrease in contract costs Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	45,835	596
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables		
		(19.540)
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other navables	(48,431)	
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables		17,866
Cash generated from/(used in) operations	1,590	(15,379)
PRC enterprise income tax paid	(30)	(2)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES	1,560	(15,381)
Interest received Interest received Purchases of property, plant and equipment Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment Net cash outflow from deregistration of subsidiaries Repayment from deposit for equity investment	1 (3) 222 (1)	1 - - - 7,000
NET CASH GENERATED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES	219	7,001
FINANCING ACTIVITIES		
Advance from a shareholder	42	1,500
Advance from a related company	7.464	-
Advance from a director	399	_
New other borrowings raised	-	16,457
Repayment of other borrowings	(8.360)	(9,513)
Interest paid	(872)	(1,071)
Repayment of lease liabilities	(292)	(98)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES	(1,619)	7,275
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	160	(1,105)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR	231	1.678
Effect of foreign exchanges rate changes	79	(342)
CACH AND CACH FOLLWAL ENTS AT THE END OF THE VEAD		
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR, represented by bank balances and cash	470	231

# **Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements**

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 1. GENERAL

Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited (the "Company") was incorporated as a joint stock company with limited liability in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") and its H shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange"). Trading in the shares of the Company on the stock exchange has been suspended since 12 November 2020.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the "Corporate Information" section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB") which is the same as the functional currency of the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") are principally engaged in the provision of application development services and the sale of IC cards, magnetic cards, related equipment and application systems, and trading of liquor products in the PRC.

#### Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB6,952,000 during the year ended 31 December 2020 and as at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately RMB28,269,000 and RMB27,931,000 whereas its bank balances and cash amount to RMB470,000 only as at the same date. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and that the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of husiness.

Nevertheless, the directors of the Company had adopted the going concern basis in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group based on the following factors:

- (1) The directors of the Company anticipate that the Group will continue to generate positive cash flows from its future operations; and
- (2) The Group will negotiate with certain bankers to obtain banking facilities, if necessary.

Provided that these measures can successfully improve the liquidity of the Group, the directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable future. According, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

### Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the *Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards* and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Definition of Material
Definition of a Business
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Except as described below, the application of the *Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards* and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

## 2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments provide a new definition of material that states "information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity." The amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

### 2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments clarify that while businesses usually have outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce additional guidance that helps to determine whether a substantive process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to apply the optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-transaction basis.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group but may impact future periods should the Group make any acquisition.

# 2.3 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments modify specific hedge accounting requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges during the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging instruments affected by the current interest rate benchmarks are amended as a result of the on-going interest rate benchmark reform. The amendments are relevant to the Group given that it applies hedge accounting to its benchmark interest rate exposures.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

# 2.4 Impacts on early application of Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The Group has applied the amendment for the first time in the current year. The amendment introduces a new practical expedient for lessees to elect not to assess whether a Covid-19-related rent concession is a lease modification. The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 that meets all of the following conditions:

- the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;
- · any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and
- there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 *Leases* if the changes were not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The application of the amendment had no impact to the opening retained profits at 1 January 2020.

#### New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

- 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
- <sup>2</sup> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
- <sup>3</sup> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

### New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

### Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments:

- update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the "Conceptual Framework") instead of Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010);
- add a requirement that, for transactions and other events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
  Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
  instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination; and
- add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

# Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 relate to the modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, specific hedge accounting requirements and disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to accompany the amendments regarding modifications and hedge accounting.

Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities. A practical expedient is introduced
for modifications required by the reform (modifications required as a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and made on an economically equivalent basis). These modifications are accounted for
by updating the effective interest rate. All other modifications are accounted for using the current HKFRSs
requirements. A similar practical expedient is proposed for lessee accounting applying HKFRS 16;

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

# Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Continued)

- Hedge accounting requirements. Under the amendments, hedge accounting is not discontinued solely because
  of the interest rate benchmark reform. Hedging relationships (and related documentation) are required to be
  amended to reflect modifications to the hedged item, hedging instrument and hedged risk. Amended hedging
  relationships should meet all qualifying criteria to apply hedge accounting, including effectiveness requirements;
  and
- **Disclosures**. The amendments require disclosures in order to allow users to understand the nature and extent of risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform to which the Group is exposed to and how the entity manages those risks as well as the entity's progress in transitioning from interbank offered rates to alternative benchmark rates, and how the entity is managing this transition.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

# Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are recognised in the parent's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

# Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

# Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (Continued)

- specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:
  - (i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 months; and
  - (ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later date; and
- clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the
  transfer of the entity's own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current or noncurrent only if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
  Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2020, the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities as at 31 December 2020.

#### Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management (such as samples produced when testing whether the relevant property, plant and equipment is functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling such items should be recognised and measured in the profit or loss in accordance with applicable standards. The cost of the items are measured in accordance with HKAS 2 *Inventories*.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

### Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether a contract is onerous in accordance with HKAS 37 *Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets*, the unavoidable costs under the contract should reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental costs and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the Group has not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of initial application.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

### Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following standards.

#### **HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments**

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes substantial modification under the "10 per cent" test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or the lender on the other's behalf.

#### **HKFRS 16** *Leases*

The amendment to Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

#### **HKAS 41** Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the requirements in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement by removing the requirement in paragraph 22 of HKAS 41 to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a present value technique.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ("CO"). These consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("GEM Listing Rules").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date:
- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below:

#### Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

- has power over the investee;
- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9") or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

#### Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company's statement of financial position at cost less impairment loss, if any.

### **Investments in joint ventures**

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### **Investments joint ventures (Continued)**

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the joint venture is included in determination of gain or loss on disposal of joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not related to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control" of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;
- the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or
- the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

### Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purpose. Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residue values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

#### Lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into on or after the date of initial application or modified or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

#### (i) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of buildings that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Lease (Continued)

### (ii) Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

- the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
- · any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
- any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and
- an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

### (iii) Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9") and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Lease (Continued)

#### (iv) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
- amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;
- the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and
- payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

- the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.
- the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review/expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Lease (Continued)

#### (v) Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19 related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

- the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
   and
- the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
  increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
  the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling interest as appropriate).

# **Borrowing costs**

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

#### **Government grants**

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

### **Retirement benefit costs**

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-managed retirement benefits schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### **Taxation**

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from "profit before taxation" as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other then in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that effects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the right-ofuse assets and the related lease liabilities in which case, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### **Taxation** (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

#### **Inventories**

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling prices for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

#### Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Financial instruments (Continued)

#### Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- · the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
  on the principal amount outstanding.

#### Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

#### Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets at amortised cost which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant balance or collectively using a provision matrix with similar credit risk characteristics based primarily on the debtors' aging profiles.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Financial instruments (Continued)

#### Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument's external (if available) or internal credit rating;
- significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;
- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor that result in a significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Financial instruments (Continued)

#### Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

#### (ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

#### (iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
- the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

#### (iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Financial instruments (Continued)

#### Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a collective basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant credit information such as forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

- Past-due status:
- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
- External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

#### Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Financial instruments (Continued)

#### Financial liabilities and equity

#### Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

#### Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

#### Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group's financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, amount due to a director, amount due to a major shareholder, dividends payables and loan from a major shareholder, are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

#### Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

#### **Provisions**

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

#### Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

#### Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements ("reporting entity").

- (a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person:
  - (i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
  - (ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or
  - (iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting entity.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Related parties (Continued)

- (b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:
  - (i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
  - (ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).
  - (iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
  - (iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
  - (v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.
  - (vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
  - (vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
  - (viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part provides key management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

## 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

## Critical judgments in applying the entity's accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

#### **Key sources of estimation uncertainty**

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainly at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

#### Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables which are individually insignificant. The provision rates are primarily on the debtors' aging profiles as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 22 and 34(b).

#### **Income taxes**

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amount that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period which such determination is made.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 5. REVENUE

## (i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Type of goods or service		
Sales of cards and card related products	-	412
Sales of liquor products	10,067	40,009
Provision for application development service	87	9,852
	10,154	50,273
Timing of revenue recognition		
At point in time	10,154	50,273

## (ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

#### Sales of cards and card related products and liquor products

Customers obtain control of the card and card related products and liquor products when the goods are delivered to and have been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the customers accepted the products. There is generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are usually payable within 30–90 days.

#### **Provision for application development service**

For contracts entered into with customers on provision for application development service, the relevant application specified in the contracts are based on customer's specifications with no alternative use. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract terms and the legal environment, the Group concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable right to payment prior to completion of application development service. Revenue from provision for application development service is therefore recognised at a point in time when the application development completed and transferred to customers, being at the point that the customer obtains the control of the application and the Group has present right to payment and collection of the consideration is probable.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the types of goods sold or services delivered or provided. No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision maker have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segment of the Group.

Specifically, the Company's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Card and card related products

 provision for application development services and trading of IC and magnetic cards and application systems, card and card related products

Liquor products

trading of liquor products

## (a) Segment revenues and result

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by reportable and operating segment:

	Card and card related products Liquor products					Tot	tal
For the year ended	2020	2019	2020	2019	2020	2019	
31 December	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	
Segment revenue:							
Sales to external customers	87	10,264	10,067	40,009	10,154	50,273	
Segment results	(238)	(1,959)	166	2,788	(72)	829	
Unallocated corporate income					1,970	77	
Unallocated corporate expense					(7,931)	(36,511)	
Finance costs					(872)	(1,071)	
Loss before taxation					(6,905)	(36,676)	

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results represents the results of each segment without allocation of interest income, sundry income, gain on deregistration of subsidiaries, written off of property, plant and equipment, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, written off of trade receivables, impairment loss on trade receivables and other receivables (net of reversal), impairment loss on intangible assets, impairment loss on interests in joint ventures, share of loss of joint ventures, central administration costs and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker of the Group for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

# (b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by reportable segment:

	Card and card related products Liquor products				tal	
	2020	2019	2020	2019	2020	2019
At 31 December	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
Assets						
Segment assets	698	11,986	5,516	52,441	6,214	64,427
Unallocated assets					471	232
Total assets					6,685	64,659
Liabilities						
Segment liabilities	10,335	13,054	4,474	51,731	14,809	64,785
Unallocated liabilities					19,807	20,705
Total liabilities					34,616	85,490

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than interest in joint ventures, deposits and bank balances and cash. Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and
- all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than amount due to a related company, amounts due to shareholders, amount due to a director and other borrowings which are not related to segment. Liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

# (c) Other segment information

	Card an	roducts	Liquor p		Unallo		То	
For the year ended 31 December	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Amount included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment assets:								
Additions to non-current assets (Note)	3	897	_	_	_	_	3	897
Depreciation for property,								
plant and equipment	49	155	-	-	-	_	49	155
Depreciation for right-of-use assets	299	100	-	-	-	-	299	100
Impairment loss on intangible assets	-	-	-	-	-	8,915	-	8,915
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, net of reversal Impairment loss on interests in joint	-	-	-	-	1,648	15,133	1,648	15,133
ventures	_	_	_	_	_	4.972	_	4.972
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries	_	_	_	_	(1,930)	_	(1,930)	_
Loss on written-off of property, plant and equipment	44	_	_	_	_	_	44	_
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	26	_	_	_	_	_	26	_
Share of loss of joint ventures	-	-	-	-	-	2	-	2
Written off of trade receivables	666	-	-	-	-	_	666	-

Note: Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

## (d) Geographical information

	Revenue		Non-current assets	
	<b>2020</b> 20		2020	2019
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
The PRC	10,154	47,055	519	869
Hong Kong	_	3,218	25	315
	10,154	50,273	544	1,184

The geographical location of customer is based on the location at which the goods were delivered and information about the non-current assets including property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, interests in joint ventures and deposits, classified in accordance with geographical location of the assets at the end of the reporting period.

## (e) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year contributing to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Customer A Customer B	5,310 4,551	14,345 10,462
Customer C Customer D	4,551 - -	8,897 6,305

## 7. OTHER INCOME

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Interest income	1	1
Value-added tax refund		1,075
Sundry income	39	76
	40	1,152

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Written off of property, plant and equipment Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Written off of trade receivables Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries(Note 31)	(44) (26) (666) 1,930	- - - -
	1,194	_

# 9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Impairment losses (recognised)/reversed on:		
- Trade receivables	68	(1,473)
- Other receivables	(1,716)	(13,660)
	(1,648)	(15,133)

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 34(b).

## **10. FINANCE COSTS**

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Interest on other borrowings Interest on lease liabilities	852 20	1,065 6
	872	1,071

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging:

	Note	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Staff costs (including directors', chief executive's and			
supervisors' emoluments)			
Salaries and other benefits		1,765	6,317
Retirement benefit scheme contribution		46	985
Total staff costs	(i)	1,811	7,302
Auditors' remuneration		934	926
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense		9,418	37,252
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment		49	155
Depreciation of right-of-use assets		299	100

<sup>(</sup>i) Total staff costs amounting to approximately RMBNil (2019: 2,931,000) are included in cost of sales; amounting to approximately RMB50,000 (2019: RMB179,000) are included in distribution and selling expenses; and approximately RMB1,761,000 (2019: RMB4,192,000) are included in general and administrative expenses.

## 12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT")		
- Current	47	751

Under the Law of the People's Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The Company and its PRC subsidiaries were subject to EIT at rate of 25% (2019: 25%).

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 16.5%). No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has no estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Loss before taxation	(6,905)	(36,676)
Loss before taxation	(0,703)	(30,070)
Tax at the domestic rate of 25% (2019: 25%)	(1,726)	(9,169)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries	139	136
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose	(89)	_
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose	280	8,268
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised	365	102
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised	1,078	1,414
Income tax expense	47	751

At 31 December 2020, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately RMB30,250,000 (2019: RMB52,858,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses will expire after five years from the year of assessment to which they relate.

At 31 December 2020, the Group has deductible temporary differences of approximately RMB6,943,000 (2019: RMB5,483,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB6,952,000 (2019: RMB37,427,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue of approximately 800,000,000 shares (2019: 800,000,000) during the year.

No diluted loss per share for both 2020 and 2019 were presented as there were no potential ordinary shares for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

#### 14. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the year ended 31 December 2020, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2019: Nil).

# 15. STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND SUPERVISORS' EMOLUMENTS)

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Salaries and other benefits in kind Retirement benefit scheme contributions	489 18	4,190 884
	507	5,074

#### **Hong Kong**

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the "MPF Scheme") under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its Hong Kong employees. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees, Under the MPF scheme, each of the Group companies (the "employer") in Hong Kong and its employees makes monthly contribution to the scheme a 5% of the employee's earning as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund Legislation. The contributions from each of the employer and employees are subject to a cap of HKD1,500 per month (2019: HKD1,500 per month), a total contribution of approximately RMB16,000 (2019: RMB45,000) was made by the Group in respect of this scheme.

## The PRC, other than Hong Kong

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Company and those subsidiaries, which operated in the PRC, are required to contribute to a state-sponsored retirement plan for all its employees. The state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees. Under the state-sponsored retirement plan, the Group has no further obligations for the actual pension payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions, a total contribution of approximately RMB30,000 (2019: RMB940,000) was made by the Group in respect of this scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 16. DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND SUPERVISORS' EMOLUMENTS

## (a) Directors', chief executive's and supervisors' emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of eleven (2019: fifteen) directors, chief executive and supervisors were as follows:

	For	the year ended	31 December 2	020
		Other	Retirement	
		emoluments	benefit	
		and other	scheme	Total
	Fees	benefits	contributions	emoluments
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
Executive directors				
Mr. Zhang Tao	_	557	19	576
Mr. Lang Yu	-	120	7	127
Mr. Liu Jianfeng	-	120	2	122
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Zhou Liang Hao	120	-	-	120
Independent non-executive directors				
Mr. Yu Xiuyang	120	-	-	120
Mr. Lau Shu Yan (resigned on 9 April 2020)	79	-	-	79
Mr. Wei Wei	120	-	-	120
Mr. Chan Chun Kit (appointed on				
6 August 2020)	40	-	-	40
Supervisors				
Mr. Zhou Jie	-	-	-	-
Mr. You Xiaohua	-	-	-	-
Ms. Huang Sanhuan	-	-	-	-
	479	797	28	1,304

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 16. DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND SUPERVISORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

# (a) Directors', chief executive's and supervisors' emoluments (Continued)

	Fees RMB'000	the year ended Other emoluments and other benefits RMB'000	31 December 20 Retirement benefit scheme contributions RMB'000	Total emoluments RMB'000
Executive directors				
Mr. Zhang Tao	_	762	16	778
Ms. Wang Hong (resigned on 27 June 2019)	_	118	12	130
Mr. Huang Qing (appointed on 14 March 2019				100
and resigned on 10 September 2019)	_	279	24	303
Mr. Lang Yu (appointed on 27 June 2019)	_	110	8	118
Mr. Liu Jianfeng (appointed on				
10 September 2019)	_	160	18	178
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Zhou Liang Hao	120	_	_	120
Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (redesignated on				
8 January 2019 as a non-executive				
Director and resigned on 18 March 2019)	26	76	1	103
Independent non-executive directors				
Mr. Yu Xiuyang	120	_	_	120
Mr. Lau Shu Yan (resigned on 9 April 2020)	120	_	_	120
Mr. Wei Wei (appointed on 20 March 2019)	94	_	_	94
Mr. You Xiaohua (resigned on 20 March 2019)	26	107	21	154
Supervisors				
Ms. Zou Liping (ceased on 30 April 2019)	_	9	1	10
Ms. Ge Deng (retired on 17 May 2019)	_	_	_	_
Mr. Zhou Jie	_	_	_	_
Ms. Huang Sanhuan (appointed on				
17 May 2019)	_	_	_	_
	506	1,621	101	2,228

No directors, chief executive and supervisors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 16. DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND SUPERVISORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

## (b) Senior management's remuneration

Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the Group, four (2019: one) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2019: four) highest paid individuals were as follows:

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Salaries and other benefits in kind Retirement benefit scheme contributions	156 4	1,586 130
	160	1,716

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

	Number of employees	
	2020	2019
Nil to HK\$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB889,000		
(2019: RMB882,000))	1	4

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company, or as compensation for loss of office during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	Leasehold improvement, furniture, fixtures and equipment RMB'000	Motor vehicles RMB'000	<b>Total</b> RMB'000
COST			
At 1 January 2019 Exchange realignment	227 2	591 10	818 12
At 31 December 2019 Exchange realignment Additions Written off Disposals	229 (5) 3 (73)	601 (6) - - (595)	830 (11) 3 (73) (595)
At 31 December 2020	154	-	154
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMEN	т		
At 1 January 2019 Exchange realignment Provided for the year	77 1 37	206 5 118	283 6 155
At 31 December 2019 Exchange realignment Provided for the year Elimination on written off Elimination on disposals	115 (6) 29 (29) -	329 (2) 20 - (347)	444 (8) 49 (29) (347)
At 31 December 2020	109	-	109
CARRYING VALUES			
At 31 December 2020	45	-	45
At 31 December 2019	114	272	386

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives less their residual values as follows:

	Estimated useful lives	Residual value
Leasehold improvements	6 years	10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment	5–6 years	3-10%
Motor vehicles	5-10 years	3-10%

## 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

	Leased properties RMB'000
Cost	
As 1 January 2019	-
Additions	897
As at 31 December 2019 and 2020	897
Accumulated depreciation	
At 1 January 2019	_
Depreciation charge	100
As at 31 December 2019	100
Depreciation charge	299
As at 31 December 2020	399
Carrying Value	
At 31 December 2020	498
At 31 December 2019	797

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Expenses relating to short-team leases Total cash outflow for leases	15 292	735 98

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the estimated useful live of 3 years.

#### 19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

	Application system RMB'000
	Tanb 666
COST	
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 2020	12,693
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT	
At 1 January 2019	3,778
Impairment loss recognised (Note ii)	8,915
At 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020	12,693
CARRYING VALUE	
At 31 December 2020	-
At 31 December 2019	-

#### Notes:

<sup>(</sup>i) The application system is amortised over the remaining useful life of 7 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, since the Group's revenue from the cards products decreased significantly and the directors anticipated that there will be no revenue generated from the card products anymore, full impairment loss on the intangible assets – application systems for the card products is recognised in the profit or loss. There were no changes to the circumstances which led to the impairment in the prior year. Accordingly, no reversal of impairment loss has been made in the current year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## **20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES**

	2020	2019
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Cost of unlisted investment, at cost	5,000	5,000
Share of loss	(27)	(27)
	4,973	4,973
Impairment loss (Note ii)	(4,972)	(4,972)
	1	1

#### Notes:

(i) Details of the Group's joint ventures as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Name	Form of entity	Place of incorporation or registration/operation	Proportion of value of regist held by th	ered capital	Principal activities
			2020	2019	
Googut Mingwah (Hong Kong) Limited	Incorporated	Hong Kong	40%	40%	Investing in wine industry and trading of wine products
Shanghai Googut Trading Co. Limited#*	Incorporated	PRC	40%	40%	Investing in wine industry and trading of wine products

<sup>\*</sup> English name for identification purpose only.

#### 21. INVENTORIES

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Finished goods – liquor	_	9,418

Up to the reporting date, no registered capital of Shanghai Googut Trading Co. Limited has been paid up and the Group therefore had an outstanding investment commitment of approximately RMB5,000,000 in the joint venture as set out in Note 34.

<sup>(</sup>ii) As the recoverable amount of the joint venture Googut Mingwah (Hong Kong) Limited, is lower than its carrying amount, an impairment loss of approximately RMB4,972,000 was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Trade receivables – contract with customers	2,000	24,318
Less: Impairment loss recognised	(1,405)	(1,473)
Trade receivables, net of impairment	595	22,845
Other receivables and deposits	8,800	24,776
Amounts due from related companies (iv)	11,105	11,105
Prepayments	590	8,803
	20,495	44,684
Less: Impairment loss recognised	(15,419)	(13,703)
	5,076	30,981
	5,671	53,826

<sup>(</sup>i) The Group allows an average credit period of 30–90 days (2019: 30–90 days) to its customers. In addition, for certain customers with long-established relationship and good past repayment histories, a longer credit period may be granted.

(ii) An aging analysis of trade receivables, net of impairment loss recognised, presented based on transaction date is as follows:

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
1 to 90 days	-	752
91 to 180 days	-	16,619
181 to 365 days	595	5,474
	595	22,845

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

(iii) Aging analysis of trade receivables which were past due but not impaired are as follows:

			Past due but no	timpaired
	Total	Neither past due nor impaired	Less than 180 days	181 to 365 days
At 31 December 2020	RMB'000 <b>595</b>	RMB'000 _	RMB'000 _	RMB'000 <b>595</b>
At 31 December 2019	22,845	752	16,619	5,474

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables and deposits are set out in Note 34(b).

#### (iv) Amounts due from related companies

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000	Maximum gross amount outstanding during the year RMB'000
Due from related companies 拉薩歌德老酒行貿易有限公司 拉薩歌德盈香貿易有限公司	2,850 8,255	2,850 8,255	2,850 8,255
	11,105	11,105	
Less: Impairment loss recognised	(11,105)	(11,105)	

The related companies are 99% owned by Googut Wine & Spirits Co., Ltd., a shareholder of the Company.

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Cash and cash of equivalent  Bank balances and cash	470	231

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, bank balances represented short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less. The interest rates ranged from 0.001% to 0.35% per annum (2019: 0.001% to 0.35% per annum).

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group performed impairment assessment on bank balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.

At 31 December 2020 approximately RMB430,000 was denominated in RMB and deposited with banks in the PRC (2019: RMB226,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through authorised banks to conduct foreign exchange business.

Details of impairment assessment of banks balances and cash are set out in Note 34(b).

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Trade payables	127	14,252
Accrued expenses	3,392	2,024
Other payables	1,324	38,413
Value-added tax payable	7,264	7,119
	12,107	61,808

- (i) The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90–180 days (2019: 90–180 days). The Group has in place financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.
- (ii) An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting period based on transaction date is as follows:

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
0-90 days	_	_
91–180 days	-	8,362
181–365 days		5,763
Over 365 days	127	127
	127	14,252

(iii) Included in accrued expenses and other payables are the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
HKD	1,651	880

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## **25. LEASE LIABILITIES**

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Lease liabilities payable:		
Within one year	301	292
Within a period of more than one year but not more than two years  Within a period of more than two years but not more than five years	206	301 206
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown under current liabilities	(301)	(292)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under non-current liabilities	206	507

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities was 3% (2019: 3%)

## 26. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Due to a related company 拉薩歌德老酒行貿易有限公司	7,464	_

The related company is 99% owned by Googut Wine & Spirits Co., Ltd., a shareholder of the Company.

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

## 27. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Due to shareholders		
Googut Wine & Spirits Co., Ltd.	1,542	1,500
Shanghai Beiyan Enterprises Limited	3,649	3,649
	5,191	5,149

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 28. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Amount due to a director  Mr. Zhang Tao	399	_

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

## 29. OTHER BORROWINGS

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Unsecured other loans	6,753	15,556
Analysed as: Amount due within 1 year shown under current liabilities	6,753	15.556

Note: Unsecured other loans represent loans due to independent third parties and bear interest at fixed rates of 12% (2019: ranged from 0% to 12%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2020, the other borrowings of approximately RMB6,753,000 were overdue and became immediately repayable.

#### **30. SHARE CAPITAL**

	Nominal value				
	Number of	Domestic			
	shares	shares	H shares	Total	
	'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	
Registered, issued and fully paid:					
At 31 December 2020 and 2019	800,000	59,980	20,020	80,000	

Note: All shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 31. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(i) On 26 March 2020, the Group deregistered Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan Electronic Equipment Co., Ltd (深圳市明華 澳漢電子設備有限公司), a 80% owned subsidiary in the PRC which was inactive.

Gain on deregistration	(1,659)
Non-controlling interest	(347)
	(1,312)
Value-added tax payable	(1,287)
Other payables	(26)
Trade receivables	1
	RMB'000

(ii) On 24 September 2020, the Group deregistered Shanghai Yongning Technology Co., Ltd. (上海勇凝科技有限公司), a 100% owned subsidiary in the PRC which was inactive.

	RMB'000
Bank balances and cash	1
Other payables	(272)
Gain on deregistration	(271)

The subsidiaries deregistered during the year ended 31 December 2020 had no significant impact on the turnover and results of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

# Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The following table shows the Group's changes in liabilities arising from financing activities during the year:

	Lease liabilities RMB'000	Amount due to a related Company RMB'000	Amounts due to shareholders RMB'000	Amount due to a director RMB'000	Other borrowings RMB'000	Total liabilities from financing activities RMB'000
At 1 January 2019	_	_	3,649	_	8,493	12,142
Changes in cash flows	(104)	_	1,500	_	5,879	7,275
Non-cash changes – additions	903	_	-	_	1.065	1,968
Exchange rate changes	_	_	_	_	119	119
At 31 December 2019 and						
1 January 2020	799	-	5,149	-	15,556	21,504
Changes in cash flows	(292)	7,464	42	399	(8,360)	(747)
Exchange rate changes	-	-	-	-	(443)	(443)
At 31 December 2020	507	7,464	5,191	399	6,753	20,314

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, net of bank balances and cash and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

## **Gearing ratio**

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Debts (i)	19,807	20,705
Bank balances and cash	(470)	(231)
Net debt	19,337	20,474
Capital deficiency (ii)	(27,931)	(21,178)
Net debt-to-equity ratio (iii)	N/A	N/A

<sup>(</sup>i) Debts are defined as borrowings (including other borrowings and amounts due to shareholders/ a related company /a director).

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives. policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

<sup>(</sup>ii) Capital deficiency includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

<sup>(</sup>iii) As the Group had a net deficiency in capital at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group's gearing ratio as at that dates were not applicable.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

## (a) Categories of financial instruments

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Financial assets		
Financial assets at amortised cost	5,994	45,339
Financial liabilities		
Financial liabilities at amortised cost	21,258	73,370
Lease liabilities	507	799

## (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, amount due to a related company, amount due to a director, amounts due to shareholders, other borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk (interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

#### **Currency risk**

The Group operates in the PRC with most of the transactions denominated and settled in RMB. The Group's foreign currency is mainly HKD. The Group has certain portion of the other receivables, bank balances and cash and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency to which they relate.

The following table shows the Group's exposure at the end of reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate.

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Assets	40	33
Liabilities	8,797	8,075

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

#### (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

#### Interest rate risk

The Group do not expose any fair value interest rate risk in relation to borrowings for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its variable rate bank balances. The Group considered that the effect of the cash flow interest rate is minimal and no sensitivity analysis to interest rate risk is presented.

#### **Credit risk and impairment assessment**

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade receivables, bank balances and other receivables and deposits. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

#### (i) Trade receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 100% (2019: 71%) and 100% (2019: 97%) of the total trade receivables was due from the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group has concentration of credit risk by geographical location as the entire balance of its trade receivable as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were in the PRC.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade receivables individually or based on provision matrix. Except for items that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment histories for recurring customers and current past due exposure. Net of reversal of impairment of RMB68,000 (2019: impairment losses of RMB1,473,000) is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

#### (ii) Bank balances

The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is limited because the majority of the counterparties are international banks and state-owned banks with good reputation.

#### (iii) Deposits and other receivables

Apart from the credit-impaired other receivables as disclosed in the note below, the credit risk on deposits and other receivables is also limited because of the natures of these balances, credit quality of the counterparties and the historical settlement record.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

## (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

#### **Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)**

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

2020	Notes	Internal credit rating	12-month or lifetime ECL	Gross carrying amount RMB'000
Financial assets at amortised costs Bank balances and cash	23	N/A	12-month ECL	470
Trade receivables	22	(note i)	Lifetime ECL	2,000
Deposits and other receivables	22	(note ii) (note iii)	12-month ECL lifetime ECL	- 8,800
Amounts due from related companies	22	(note iii)	Lifetime ECL	11,105
2019	Notes	Internal credit rating	12-month or lifetime ECL	Gross carrying amount RMB'000
Financial assets at amortised costs				
Bank balances and cash	23	N/A	12-month ECL	231
Trade receivables	22	(note i)	Lifetime ECL	24,318
Deposits and other receivables	22	(note ii) (note iii)	12-month ECL lifetime ECL	22,262 13,619

#### Notes:

- (i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for items that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for impairment individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items by past due status.
- (ii) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, these balances are either not past due or doesn't have fixed repayment.
- (iii) The directors of the Company considers credit risks have increased significantly and those past due more than 90 days are considered as credit-impaired.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

#### 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

#### (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

#### **Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)**

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses debtors' aging to assess the impairment for its customers because these customers have common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers' abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

Debtors with significant outstanding balances with gross carrying amounts of RMB2,000,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB24,318,000) were assessed individually.

	20	20	2019		
Caran committee amount	Average	Trade receivables	Average	Trade receivables	
Gross carrying amount	loss rate	receivables	loss rate	receivables	
Current (not past due)	_	_	0.3%	754	
1–90 days past due	-	-	0.2%	16,653	
91–180 days past due	0.8%	600	0.7%	5,511	
Over 180 days past due	100%	1,400	100%	1,400	
		2,000		24,318	

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group provided net of reversal of impairment of RMB68,000 (2019: impairment losses of RMB1,473,000) impairment allowance for trade receivables, based on the provision matrix.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

## (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

#### **Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)**

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified approach.

	Lifetime ECL RMB'000
As at 1January 2019	3,546
Written off as uncollectible	(3,546)
Impairment losses recognised	1,473
As at 31 December 2019	1,473
Impairment losses recognised	5
Reverse of impairment loss	(73)
As at 31 December 2020	1,405

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for other receivables and amounts due from related companies.

	Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) RMB'000
As at 1 January 2019	43
Impairment losses recognised	13,660
As at 31 December 2019	13,703
Impairment losses recognised	1,855
Reverse of impairment loss	(139)
As at 31 December 2020	15,419

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

#### (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

#### **Liquidity risk**

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

	Within one year or on demand	At 31 Dec More than 1 year but less than 2 years	Total contractual undiscounted cash flows	<b>Carrying</b> amounts	Within one year or on demand	At 31 Decomposed More than 1 year but less than 2 years	Total contractual undiscounted cash flows	Carrying amounts
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
Non-derivative financial liabilities								
Trade and other payables	4,843	-	4,843	4,843	54,689	-	54,689	54,689
Amount due to a								
related company	7,464	-	7,464	7,464	-	-	-	-
Amounts due to shareholders	5,191	-	5,191	5,191	5,149	-	5,149	5,149
Amount due to a director	399	-	399	399				
Lease liabilities	312	208	520	507	312	520	832	799
Other borrowings	7,563	-	7,563	6,753	16,084	-	16,084	15,556
	25,772	208	25,980	25,157	76,234	520	76,754	76,193

## (c) Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values due to their short-term maturities.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## **35. CAPITAL COMMITMENT**

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Capital contribution to joint ventures	5,000	5,000

## **36. RELATED PARTY AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS**

## (a) Related party balances

Details of the balances with related parties as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial position and in Notes 22, 26, 27 and 28.

## (b) Key management compensation

The key management personnel of the Group comprises all the directors of the Company and the five highest paid individuals. Details of compensation of directors are included in Note 16.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

	2020 RMB'000	2019 RMB'000
Non-current assets Property, plant and equipment Right-of-use assets Investment in subsidiaries Amount due from a subsidiary	19 498 19 1	72 797 5,019 4
	537	5,892
Current assets Trade and other receivables Bank balances and cash	156 403	10,775 21
	559	10,796
Current liabilities Trade and other payables Amounts due to subsidiaries Lease liabilities Amount due to a related company Amounts due to shareholders Other borrowings	8,183 1,817 301 7,464 5,191	10,018 6,978 292 - 5,149 8,360
	22,956	30,797
Net current liabilities	(22,397)	(20,001)
Total assets less current liabilities	(21,860)	(14,109)
Non-current liabilities Lease liabilities	206	507
	206	507
Net liabilities	(22,066)	(14,616)
Capital and reserves Share capital Reserves	80,000 (102,066)	80,000 (94,616)
Capital deficiency	(22,066)	(14,616)

The Company's statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Zhang Tao

Mr. Lang Yu

Director

For the year ended 31 December 2020

# 37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

#### Reserves

	Share premium RMB'000	Statutory surplus reserve RMB'000	Statutory public welfare fund RMB'000	Accumulated losses RMB'000	<b>Total</b> RMB'000
At 1 January 2019	71,974	4,716	2,358	(143,931)	(64,883)
Total comprehensive loss for the year	_	_	_	(29,733)	(29,733)
At 31 December 2019	71,974	4,716	2,358	(173,664)	(94,616)
Total comprehensive loss for the year	-	_	-	(7,450)	(7,450)
At 31 December 2020	71,974	4,716	2,358	(181,114)	(102,066)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

## 38. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries established as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary	Place of incorporation/ registration and operation/ establishment	Class of shares held	Issued and fully paid share capital RMB'000	interest	ownership directly e Company 2019	Principal activities
Mingwah Aohan Investment Group Limited (明華澳漢投資集團 有限公司)	Hong Kong	Ordinary shares	9	100%	100%	Provision of administrative support
Shanghai Ai Ba Ke Food Limited (上海愛吧客食品有限公司)	PRC	Contributed capital	_#	100%	100%	Trading of liquor products
Xizang Googut Trading Co., Ltd. (西藏歌德彌香貿易有限公司)	PRC	Contributed capital	_#	100%	100%	Trading of liquor products

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the reporting period.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, there is no subsidiary that has non-controlling interest which is material to the Group.

- \* English name is for identification purpose only.
- Up to the reporting date, no registered capital of Shanghai Ai Ba Ke Food Limited and Xizang Googut Trading Co., Ltd..

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

# **Financial Summary**

# **RESULTS**

		For the year ended 31 December						
	2020	2019	2018	2017	2016			
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000			
Revenue	10,154	50,273	74,672	119,209	44,246			
(Loss)/profit before tax	(6,905)	(36,676)	1,194	3,381	(16,199)			
Income tax expense	(47)	(751)	(182)	(1,625)	(222)			
(Loss)/profit for the year	(6,952)	(37,427)	1,012	1,756	(16,421)			
Attributable to:								
Owners of the Company	(6,952)	(37,427)	759	1,606	(16,389)			
Non-controlling interests	-	_	253	150	(32)			
(Loss)/profit for the year	(6,952)	(37,427)	1,012	1,756	(16,421)			

# **ASSETS AND LIABILITIES**

		At 31 December							
	2020	2019	2018	2017	2016				
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000				
Total assets	6,685	64,659	74,557	112,018	73,115				
Total liabilities	(34,616)	(85,490)	(57,498)	(95,566)	(58,831)				
	(27,931)	(20,831)	17,059	16,452	14,284				
Attributable to:									
Owners of the Company	(27,931)	(21,178)	16,712	16,358	14,858				
Non-controlling interests	-	347	347	94	(574)				
Equity	(27,931)	(20,831)	17,059	16,452	14,284				